THE EFFECTS OF IRRIGATION METHOD

ON PLANT GROWTH, WATER AND

NUTRIENT EFFICIENCY,

AND RUN-OFF

BY

JAIME KAYE MORVANT

Bachelor of Science

Tarleton State University

Stephenville, Texas

1992

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE December, 1995

THE EFFECTS OF IRRIGATION METHOD

ON PLANT GROWTH, WATER AND

NUTRIENT EFFICIENCY,

AND RUN-OFF

Thesis Approved:

Thesis Advisor

C. Coli Collina

Dean of the Graduate College

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The purpose of this study was to determine the effect of water and fertilizer efficient irrigation systems and methods on the growth of greenhouse floriculture crops. The information gained from this research will enable growers to efficiently produce high quality plants while minimizing the amount of nutrients released to the environment.

This research was the fourth year of an on-going project funded by the Oklahoma Agricultural Experiment Stations to promote the use of water and fertilizer conserving greenhouse practices. I want to thank my principle advisor Dr. John Dole for having faith in me as a research assistant and giving me the guidance, assurance, and encouragement I needed.

I would like to thank Dr. Janet Cole and Dr. Earl Allen for serving on my committee. Dr. Cole brought to my research project knowledgeable guidance, support, and many helpful suggestions. Dr. Earl Allen knew the answer to every question about phosphorus and nitrogen I could come up with, and I came up with a lot.

As the official 'Lab Mom' Vicki Stamback offered much needed advice, many answers, an occasional kick in the rear, and lots of hard laughs. Her energetic, 'get after it' attitude has tought me many things, not to mention reducing my work load considerably. Thank you, Vicki. I must also thank Randall Smith for all his help at the research greenhouse when I presented him with such complaints as 'the injector won't work' and 'I really want to go home this weekend'.

I want to thank my friend Connie Fox for teaching me the love and beauty of horticulture and answering all my endless questions. She showed me the joy of such simple pleasures as hill country views, clear sparkling rivers, moon beams, belly laughs, and good Texas wine. Thanks Connie.

I want to thank my Moma and Daddy for all their love and encouragement. They have always believed in me and have given me a special place to come home to. I couldn't have made it without your help and am very lucky to have parents like you. I must also thank Mark for understanding the trials of graduate school, and Michelle and Nicole for helping grind leaves and being home to answer the phone. Denise and Larry for the washer and dryer and many hours of mindless shopping and giggles, and Megan for always making me smile with her sweet innocence and the voice of an angel.

Lastly, I thank my true love Michael. Without your love and kindness I wouldn't be where I am today. You travelled many miles to be with me when I couldn't leave. You watered poinsettias, weighed plants, found my keys, stood by my side, and pampered me like a princess. I feel like the luckiest girl in the world to have found you. Bless Jimmy Buffet for bringing us together and taking me to warm, sunny, beaches without ever leaving the lab.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter

~

Page

I. INTRODUCTION	1
Irrigation systems	3
Irrigation frequency	4
Fertilizer type and nitrogen partitioning	. 5
Root, pH, and soluble salt distribution in the media	6
Objectives	8
Literature cited	9
II. EFFECTS OF IRRIGATION SYSTEM AND FREQUENCY	
ON POINSETTIA GROWTH, WATER USE,	
AND RUN-OFF	11
Abstract	11
Introduction	12
Materials and Methods	14
Results	19
Plant growth	19
Medium analysis	
Water efficiency	22
Run-off analysis	23
Tissue analysis	24
Discussion	25
Irrigation frequency	25
Irrigation system	
Literature Cited	33
III. EFFECTS OF FERTILIZER SOURCE AND IRRIGATION	
SYSTEM ON PLANT GROWTH, AND NITROGEN	45
PARTITIONING	45
Abstract	45
Introduction	46
Materials and Methods	49
Results	54
Plant Growth	54

Chapter

	Medium analysis	55
	Water efficiency	55
	Run-off analysis	56
	Tissue analysis	57
	Nitrogen partitioning	59
	Discussion	60
	CLF VS. CRF	60
	Irrigation system	62
	Literature cited	65
IV.	EFFECTS OF IRRIGATION SYSTEM ON THE	
	DISTRIBUTION OF pH, SOLUBLE SALTS, ROOTS,	
	AND NITROGEN IN THE MEDIA	75
	Abstract	75
	Introduction	76
	Materials and Methods	77
	Results	81
		81
	Plant growth and tissue analysis	
	Water efficiency	81
	Run-off analysis	82
	Medium and root analysis	82
	Discussion	84
	Media regions	84
	Irrigation system	87
	Literature Cited	90
V.	SUMMARY	95
	Literature Cited	97

Page

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1	Influence of irrigation system and frequency on growth of <i>Euphorbia pulcherrima</i> 'Gutbier V-14 Glory' grown with 220 mg/liter ⁻¹ N. Year one-1993 and year two-1994. Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants	36
2.2	Influence of irrigation system and frequency on medium pH and EC, water use, and run-off nutrient content of <i>Euphorbia pulcherrima</i> 'Gutbier V-14 Glory' grown with 220 mg/liter ⁻¹ N. Year one-1993 and year two-1994. Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants	39
2.3	Influence of irrigation system and frequency on <i>Euphorbia pulcherrima</i> 'Gutbier V-14 Glory' leaf tissue nutrient content grown with 220 mg/liter ⁻¹ N. Year one-1993 and year two-1994. Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants	42
3.1	Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source on media pH, EC, and growth of <i>Pelargonium</i> <i>hortorum</i> 'Pinto Red'. Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants	67
3.2	Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source on the amount of water applied, amount of run-off, and, pH, EC, and nutrient content of run-off water from <i>Pelargonium hortorum</i> 'Pinto Red'. Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants	68

3.3	Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source	
	on shoot tissue nutrient content of Pelargonium hortorum	
	'Pinto Red'. Means are an average of data from	
	three replications (benches) of 16 plants	70
3.4	Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source	
	on root tissue nutrient content of Pelargonium hortorum	
	'Pinto Red'. Means are an average of data from	
	three replications (benches) of 16 plants	71
3.5	Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source	
	on medium pH and EC, shoot and root N content,	
	and shoot Zn content of Pelargonium hortorum	
	'Pinto Red'. Means are an average of data from	
	three replications (benches) of 16 plants	72
3.6	Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source on	
	partitioning of applied nitrogen in Pelargonium hortorum	
	'Pinto Red'. Means are an average of data from three	
	replications (benches) of 16 plants	73
4.1	Influence of irrigation system on plant growth	
	and shoot nutrient content of Pelargonium hortorum	
	'Pinto Red' grown with 220 mg/liter ⁻¹ N. Means	
	are an average of data from four replications	
	(benches) of 16 plants, except for root dry weights	
	which were based on 10 plants per replication	92
4.2	Influence of irrigation system on water use and	
	run-off nutrient content of Pelargonium hortorum	
	'Pinto Red' grown with 220 mg/liter ⁻¹ N. Means	
	are an average of data from four replications	
	(benches) of 16 plants	93
4.3	Influence of irrigation system on pH, EC, root count,	
	and N content of medium regions of Pelargonium	
	hortorum 'Pinto Red' grown with 220 mg/liter ⁻¹ N.	
	Means are an average of data from four replications	
	(benches) of 6 plants for pH, EC, and N determination,	
	and 10 plants for root counts	94

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Improving the quality of water released from large containerized production nurseries and greenhouse operations is an increasing concern to both growers and consumers. Container crop production is limited by the amount of nutrients and water available to the plant because of the small volume of growing medium held within the containers. This limitation leads to more frequent irrigation and fertilization compared to plants grown in the field without container restriction. The result of intense irrigation and fertilization is possible contamination of ground and surface water sources. Many large nurseries and greenhouses are located near surface and underground water sources. Horticultural operations often use water from, and release run-off containing nutrient and pesticide pollutants back into these sources. Reducing potential contamination of these waters is a regional as well as state concern since river and underground aquifers often cross state lines. Thus, residents of several states may use potentially contaminated water for drinking and irrigation.

Over 99% of the earth's nitrogen is in the form of N_2 and is unavailable to plants. Nitrogen is made available to plants by the process of fixation where microorganisms and certain atmospheric phenomena, such as lightning, convert nitrogen to NH₃, the first plant available form. From this point soil nitrogen is subject to volatilization or mineralization to form NH₄, which is then either taken up by the plant, immobilized, or converted to NO_3 by the process of nitrification. At the end of the nitrogen cycle, denitrification occurs, converting NO_3 back to atmospheric nitrogen. Fixation and denitrification occur at approximately equal rates, while soil nitrogen processes may be affected by conditions in the soil such as pH, temperature, and moisture. Soilless medium allows greater leaching of NH_4 than field soils where natural exchange sites and clay minerals bind ammonium ions. Nitrate is also more susceptible to leaching due to the small volume of medium in the container where the nutrient solution is often partially or completely replaced at each irrigation.

The importance of research leading to environmentally sound crop management is illustrated by nitrate loading to underlying greenhouse soils. Common practice is to apply soluble forms of fertilizer with irrigation water. Plants are irrigated with water amounts exceeding what the media can retain, allowing for beneficial leaching of excess nutrients and preventing damaging soluble salt buildup. The water and chemicals leached from the growing media then drain to the greenhouse floor which is generally porous. The water may then leach through to underlying soils. Soils underlying greenhouses are often excessively compacted. The glazed greenhouse structures exclude rainfall, allowing loading of nitrates to groundwater sources (Molitor, 1990). In addition to nitrates, phosphorus, minor elements, and pesticides may also be a potential cause of contamination. If containerized plants could be grown with less leaching, water and nutrient efficiency would increase while reducing the amount of contaminates released to the environment through run-off. In addition, the cost of fertilizer and water may be reduced.

2

New water and nutrient control regulations and standards will likely be implemented during the next few years by federal, state, and local agencies (Conover and Poole, 1992). Compliance is of highest concern to most growers, yet producing a high quality, salable plant is crucial to a greenhouse business. Plant quality and protecting the environment must be carefully balanced through the use of water conserving irrigation methods and environmentally sound cultural practices.

IRRIGATION SYSTEMS

Several studies have indicated that high quality plants can be grown using subirrigation systems (Conover and Poole, 1992; Dole et al., 1994; Yelanich and Biernbaum, 1994). Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990) found that subirrigated plants were of acceptable quality and noted that the excessive run-off produced in greenhouse production could be controlled by decreasing the amount of water and fertilizer applied at each irrigation or by changing to a subirrigated system with recirculated water and fertilizer solutions. When compared to overhead irrigation, ebb-and-flow produced higher quality plants (Conover and Poole, 1992, Dole et al., 1994). Ebb-and-flow irrigation, at a fertilizer rate of 175 mg/liter of nitrogen, produced poinsettias with the greatest total dry weight per liter of water applied, when compared to capillary mats, hand-watering, and microtube (Dole et al., 1994).

On the other hand, capillary mat subirrigation used the highest amount of water and released the greatest amount of run-off when compared to ebb-and-flow, handwatering, and microtube irrigation (Dole et al., 1994). Alleman and Weiler (1994) noted contrasting results, where water efficiency was significantly increased by using recirculated irrigation water with capillary mats.

Microtube irrigation systems, also referred to as trickle or drip irrigation, are used in outdoor containerized or field crop production. Rathier and Frink (1989) found that in containerized juniper and spruce production, trickle irrigation used less water and released run-off with a lower N concentration than overhead sprinkler irrigation, while N loading to the soil and N loss due to leaching were decreased. For greenhouse production, microtube irrigation caused more water to be retained in the media and produced plants with the greatest dry weight compared to capillary mats, ebb-and-flow, and hand-watering (Dole et al., 1994).

Types of overhead irrigation include sprinklers, mist systems, and manual or handwatering. Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990) found that a 10-15% LF is recommended for overhead watering, but noted that some growers leach more than 40-50%. Dole et al. (1994) found that hand-watering produced higher quality plants only at a higher fertilizer rate than other irrigation systems. For example, hand-watering produced plants with greater dry weight at 250 mg/liter N than at 175 mg/liter N, with a greater volume of runoff than microtube irrigation (Dole et al., 1994).

IRRIGATION FREQUENCY

Along with the method of application, the amount of water applied and the frequency at which plants are irrigated can greatly effect plant growth and run-off. Conover and Poole (1992) noted that irrigation amounts above 100 ml/pot applied twice

daily increased NO₃ and P in the leachate with no significant increase in foliage plant quality or fresh weight. Also, leaching was eliminated with no difference in quality for short term crops by applying less water at shorter intervals (Poole and Conover, 1992). Fare et al. (1994) found that applying water in two or three cycles rather than an equal amount in one continuous application decreased total effluent, container leachate, and nitrogen loss while increasing plant growth.

Stewart et al (1981) found that privet watered daily had thicker stems, greater height, and wider diameters with significantly more dry weight than plants irrigated every other day (bidaily); this difference was attributed to a greater available moisture supply. The plant N concentration and N in the media was significantly greater when irrigated daily than bidaily, however, although only twice as much water was applied in daily irrigation, the volume of run-off was almost four times more than bidaily (Stewart et al., 1981). The objective of this study was to determine the effect of irrigation system and frequency on plant growth and water and nutrient efficiency.

FERTILIZER TYPE AND NITROGEN PARTITIONING

Two basic fertilizer types are used in greenhouse crop production: constant liquid fertilizer (CLF) and control release fertilizer (CRF). These two types of fertilizer can affect plant growth and leachate nutrient content differently. Production of plants with CLF relies on porous media and excessive amounts of water to provide leaching and can produce unacceptable levels of nitrates in leachate (Conover and Poole, 1992). CRF is known to decrease N run-off and increase N retention by the crop (Cox, 1985). Conover and Poole (1992) found no significant difference in plant height, quality, or EC for plants grown with either CRF or CLF in an ebb-and-flow system; however, foliage plants grown with CRF used more water than those grown with CLF. By reducing leaching, CLF and CRF can be used at lower rates since fewer nutrients would be lost through leaching. For example, N loss ranged from 12-23% for CRF, and N loss for CLF was 12-48% (Hershey and Paul, 1982). Rathier and Frink (1989) found that CRF applied in split applications prevented high initial N release and high N concentrations in leachate. In a nitrogen balance experiment, Stewart et al. (1981) noted that N taken up by roots, and N adsorbed or absorbed by pots was insignificant. However, N concentration in leachate was significantly lower for CRF than for CLF containing either ammonium sulfate of calcium nitrate. The purpose of this study was to determine the effect of fertilizer source interacted with irrigation system on plant growth, nitrogen partitioning, and run-off.

ROOT, pH, AND SOLUBLE SALT DISTRIBUTION IN MEDIA

Plant growth is significantly affected by water application method, regardless of fertilizer source or rate (Argo and Biernbaum, 1994; Conover and Poole, 1992; Dole et al., 1994; Molitor, 1990). Irrigation method has a direct influence on many other factors and characteristics which influence growth, such as pH, soluble salt content, root growth, and nutrient distribution, as well as their distribution within the growing medium (Argo and Biernbaum, 1994; Ku and Hershey, 1991; Molitor, 1990).

Medium soluble salt concentration and pH distribution has been most commonly studied to compare top irrigation and subirrigation systems. Ku and Hershey (1991) found that when using overhead irrigation, a low leaching fraction increased soluble salt concentration in the middle and lower third of the medium due to displacement of old fertilizer solution in the soil by newly applied fertilizer solution. Therefore, soluble salt concentration was lowered in the upper portion of the media, while for subirrigation, the reverse occurred in the upper layers.

Molitor (1990) found that subirrigation decreased pH in the lower layer of the pot, while trickle irrigation resulted in a similar pH throughout the root zone. Molitor suggested that the low pH of the bottom region of media from plants grown with subirrigation could be due to an increased amount of nitrifying bacteria in the lower layer, which is promoted by high ammonium fertilizer. In contrast, trickle irrigation distributed ammonia more uniformly throughout the root zone (Molitor, 1990). The purpose of this study was to determine the effect of irrigation system on the distribution of pH, soluble salts, roots, and nitrogen in the media.

OBJECTIVES

The research presented has three objectives:

1) to determine the effect of irrigation system and frequency on plant growth and water and nutrient efficiency;

2) to determine the effect of fertilizer source interacted with irrigation system on plant growth, nitrogen partitioning, and run-off;

3) to determine the effect of irrigation system on the distribution of pH, soluble salts, roots, and nitrogen in the media.

The information gained from this research will enable growers to efficiently produce high quality plants while minimizing the amount of nitrogen and phosphorus released to the environment through run-off.

LITERATURE CITED

- Alleman, D.M. and T.C. Weiler. 1994. Comparison of greenhouse benching/irrigation systems for water use, fertilizer use, and crop quality with poinsettias and geraniums. HortScience 29(5):452. Abstract.
- Argo, W.R. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1994. Irrigation requirements, root-medium pH, and nutrient concentrations of Easter lilies grown in five peat-based media with and without an evaporation barrier. J. Amer. Hort. Sci. 119(6):1151-1156.
- Conover C.A. and R.T. Poole. 1992. Effect of fertilizer and irrigation on leachate levels of NH₄, NO₃, and P in container production of *Nephrolepsis exalta* 'Fluffy Ruffle'. J. Environ. Hort. 10(4):238-241.
- Cox, D.A. 1985. Nitrogen recovery by seed geranium as influenced by nitrogen source. HortScience 20(5):923-925.
- Dole J.M., J.C. Cole, and S.L. von Broembsen. 1994. Growth of poinsettias, nutrient leaching, and water-use efficiency respond to irrigation methods. HortScience 29(8):858-864.
- Fare, D.C., C.H. Gilliam, and G.J. Keever. 1994. Cyclic irrigation reduces container leachate nitrate-nitrogen concentration. HortScience 29(12):1514-1517.
- Hershey D.R. and J.L. Paul. 1982. Leaching-losses of nitrogen from pot chrysanthemums with controlled-release of liquid fertilization. Scientia Hort. 17:145-152.
- Ku, C.S.M. and D.R. Hershey. 1991. Leachate electrical conductivity and growth of potted poinsettia with leaching fractions of 0 to 0.4. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 116:802-806.
- Molitor, H.D. 1990. The European perspective with emphasis on subirrigation and recirculation of water and nutrients. Acta Hort. 272:165-173.
- Poole R.T. and C.A. Conover. 1992. Fertilizer levels and medium affect foliage plant growth in and ebb and flow irrigation system. J. Environ. Hort. 10(4):81-86.

- Rathier T.M. and C.R. Frink. 1989. Nitrate in runoff water from container grown juniper and Alberta spruce under different irrigation and N fertilization regimes. J. Environ. Hort. 7(1):32-35.
- Stewart J.S., L.J. Lund, and R.L. Branson. 1981. Nitrogen balances for container-grown privet. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 106(5):565-569.
- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1990. Effect of fertilizer concentration and method of application on media nutrient concentration, nitrogen runoff and growth of *Euphorbia pulcherrima* 'V-14 Glory'. Acta Hort. 272:185-189.
- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1994. Fertilizer concentration and leaching affect nitrate-nitrogen leaching from potted poinsettia. HortScience 29(8):874-875.

CHAPTER II

EFFECTS OF IRRIGATION SYSTEM AND FREQUENCY ON POINSETTIA GROWTH, WATER USE, AND RUN-OFF

Jaime K. Morvant, John M. Dole, and Janet C. Cole. <u>Department of Horticulture and</u> Landscape Architecture, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078-6027.

Additional index words. Euphorbia pulcherrima 'Gutbier V-14 Glory', microtube, ebband-flow, capillary mat, pulse irrigation, subirrigation, nitrate, ammonium, phosphorus.

Abbreviations. HD, hand-irrigation; MT, microtube; EF, ebb-and-flow; CM, capillary mat; EC, electrical conductivity; LF, leaching fraction.

Abstract. Euphorbia pulcherrima 'Gutbier V-14 Glory' were grown with 220 mg-liter⁻¹ N (20N-4.4P-16.6K) using hand irrigation (HD), microtube (MT), ebb-and-flow (EF), and capillary mat (CM) irrigation systems and were irrigated either daily (pulse - P) or as needed (regular - R). For all irrigation systems, pulse irrigation produced plants with the greatest total dry weight. HD produced lower total plant dry weight than all other irrigation systems and frequencies. Root dry weight was greatest with pulse subirrigation (EF and CM). Run-off from MT-P and EF-P treatments had the lowest concentration of NO₃, NH₄, and PO₄. MT-P, EF-P, and EF-R were the most water efficient treatments.

CM-P, CM-R, and HD were the least water efficient treatments. The experiment was repeated twice with similar results.

INTRODUCTION

Greenhouse container crop production is limited by the amount of nutrients and water available to the plant because of the small volume of growing medium held within the containers. This limitation leads to more frequent irrigation and fertilization compared to plants grown in the field without container restriction. The result of intense irrigation and fertilization is possible contamination of ground and surface water sources. Irrigation practices that conserve water and fertilizer also reduce the potential of contaminating water sources. The need for more conservative cultural practices presents growers with the concern of sacrificing plant quality, and subsequently, profit. Several studies have indicated that high quality plants can be grown using subirrigation systems (Conover and Poole, 1992; Dole et al., 1994; Yelanich and Biernbaum, 1990). Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990) found that subirrigated plants were of acceptable quality and noted that the excessive run-off produced in greenhouse production could be controlled by decreasing the amount of water and fertilizer applied at each irrigation or by changing to a subirrigated system with recirculated water and fertilizer solutions. When compared to overhead, or top irrigation, ebb-and-flow produced higher quality plants (Conover and Poole, 1992, Dole et al., 1994). Ebb-and-flow irrigation, at a fertilizer rate of 175 mg·liter⁻¹ of nitrogen, produced poinsettias with the greatest total dry weight per liter of

water applied, when compared to capillary mats, hand-watering, and microtube (Dole et al., 1994).

On the other hand, capillary mat subirrigation used the highest amount of water and released the greatest amount of run-off when compared to ebb-and-flow, handwatering, and microtube irrigation (Dole et al., 1994). Alleman and Weiler (1994) noted contrasting results, where water efficiency was significantly increased by using recirculated irrigation water with capillary mats.

Microtube irrigation systems, also referred to as trickle or drip irrigation, are often used in outdoor containerized or field crop production. Rathier and Frink (1989) found that in containerized juniper and spruce production, trickle irrigation used less water and released run-off with a lower N concentration than overhead sprinkler irrigation, while N loading to the soil and N loss due to leaching were decreased. For greenhouse production, microtube irrigation caused more water to be retained in the medium and produced plants with the greatest dry weight compared to capillary mats, ebb-and-flow, and hand-watering (Dole et al., 1994).

Types of overhead irrigation include sprinklers, mist systems, and manual or handwatering. Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990) found that a 10-15% LF is recommended for overhead watering, but noted that some growers leach more than 40-50%. Dole et al. (1994) found that hand-watering produced higher quality plants only at a higher fertilizer rate than other systems. For example, hand-watering produced plants with greater dry weight at 250 mg·liter⁻¹ N than at 175 mg·liter⁻¹ N, with a greater volume of run-off than microtube irrigation. Along with the method of application, the amount of water applied and the frequency at which plants are irrigated can greatly effect plant growth and run-off (Conover and Poole, 1992; Stewart et al., 1981). Conover and Poole (1992) noted that irrigation amounts above 100 ml/pot per 15-cm pot applied twice daily increased NO_3 and P in the leachate with no significant difference in foliage plant quality or fresh weight. Also, leaching was eliminated with no difference in quality for short term crops by applying less water at shorter intervals (Poole and Conover, 1992). Fare et al. (1994) found that applying water in two or three cycles rather than an equal amount in one continuous application decreased total effluent, container leachate, and nitrogen loss while increasing plant growth.

Stewart et al. (1981) found that privet watered daily had thicker stems, greater height, and wider diameters with significantly more dry weight than plants irrigated every other day (bidaily); this difference was attributed to a greater available moisture supply. Stewart et al. (1981) also found that the plant N concentration and N in the medium were significantly greater when plants were irrigated daily than bidaily, and that the volume of run-off from daily irrigation was almost four times more than bidaily while only twice as much water was applied. The objective of our study was to determine the effect of irrigation method and frequency on poinsettia growth and water and nutrient use and runoff.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1993. Euphorbia pulcherrima 'Gutbier V-14 Glory' poinsettia cuttings were propagated from greenhouse stock plants on 10 August 1993 and rooted in oasis root cubes (Smither-Oasis, Kent, Ohio). Before insertion, cutting bases were treated with 0.1% IBA (indole-3-butyric acid, Hormex Powder #1, Brooker Chemical, North Hollywood, Calif.) and rooted under intermittent mist. Rooted cuttings were planted on 5 September 1993 in 15-cm (1270-ml) azalea pots filled with 1.5 liters of a commercial peat-based medium (Fafard Growing Mix no. 2; Conrad Fafard, Springfield, Mass.). The medium had 94.1% porosity, 77.4% total water-holding capacity, 40.9% available water, and 36.5% unavailable water, based on oven dried medium. Each plant was pinched to six nodes above the medium on 24 September 1993. Plants were grown in a corrugated polycarbonate covered greenhouse with an average air temperature of 23.4/21.3C day/night, and maximum PPF of 1296 µmol⁻²·s⁻¹. Standard disease and insect control procedures were followed (Ecke et al., 1990). All plants received monthly drenches of magnesium sulfate at 600mg liter⁻¹, and the amount of water applied was recorded. Plants were spaced 38 by 38 cm on containerized benches and fertilized with 220 mg-liter⁻¹ N as 20N-4.4P-16.6K water soluble fertilizer intended for soilless medium (Peters 20-10-20 PLS, Sierra Chemical Co., Milpitas, Calif.).

Plants were irrigated with one of four irrigation systems 1) hand-watering (HD) (16-mm internal diameter hose and breaker nozzle), 2) microtube (MT) [2.5-mm main line, 1.9-mm internal diameter leader tubes and lead weight emitters (Chapin Watermatics, Watertown, N.Y.)], 3) capillary mat (CM) [1.5 by 1.8-m black plastic (6-mm) bottom

layer, mat, and black perforated plastic covering (Vattex Capillary Watering System; OS Plastics, Norcross, Ga.)], or 4) ebb-and-flow (EF) [1.5 by 1.8-m bench top, 190-liter tank, pump, and drain tube (Midwest Gromaster, St. Charles, Ill.)] and two irrigation frequencies, pulse and regular. A pulse treatment was not included for HD due to the commercial impracticality of pulse irrigation by hand. One replication of sixteen plants were placed on each bench.

For regular irrigation treatments, all plants in each replication were irrigated when one previously selected test plant per replication was at or below the target weight as determined by daily weighing. To determine the target irrigation weight, six additional cuttings were planted as described above, watered, and allowed to dry to the point that wilting was first observed. At this time, the weight of the entire plant, pot, and medium was recorded. The plants were then watered to saturation and weighed again to determine container capacity. Target irrigation weights were calculated as follows: [(Container capacity weight - wilting point weight) (0.40)] + wilting point weight = the total plant weight at 40% container capacity. The target test plant weight was obtained by averaging the six plant weights. Pulse irrigation treatments were irrigated daily.

The HD and MT regular irrigation treatments had a 0.3-0.5 LF. The CM regular irrigation treatment was irrigated by applying the designated amount of water to the mat, allowing the mat and plants to take up water for 15 min, and draining the excess water from the mat by draping one edge of the mat over the edge of the bench for 15 min. The water was collected in a trough hung from the edge of the bench and slanted slightly downward toward a bucket. In the recirculating EF system, water was contained in a

covered tank, pumped to the containerized bench top, held for the designated time to allow uptake by plants, and drained back into the tank after each irrigation. The only run-off produced from the EF system was during periodic leachings with unamended water when the bench was unplugged, and the excess water drained from the bench top rather than returned to the tank. The tanks were filled to capacity with fertilized water periodically and at the end of the growing season to determine the amount of water used. The run-off from regular HD and MT treatments was collected from a drain under each bench, and measured. All pulse treatments had a 0.0 leaching fraction, and no run-off was collected except during leachings, where a 0.3-0.5 LF was used. The amount of water applied at each irrigation was determined with a flow meter (Electronic Digital Meter, Great Plains Industries, Witchita, Kan.) installed in the water line.

Regular irrigation treatments were irrigated with the following rates: HD - two sec per pot, at a flow rate of 17.0 liters/min (Electronic Digital Meter; Great Plains Industries, Wichita, Kan.), MT - 45 sec per bench, at a flow rate of 17.0 liters/min, CM -60 sec per bench, applied to the mat with a 17.0 liters/min flow rate, EF - 12 min per bench. The HD, CM, and EF treatments were leached from top to bottom every fifth irrigation with unamended water for two sec per pot at a flow rate of 17.0 liter/min. The CM mats were leached an additional 15 sec at a flow rate of 17.0 liter/min to reduce soluble salt concentration in the mats. The MT treatments were leached for 45 sec with unamended water at a flow rate of 17.0 liter/min.

Pulse irrigation treatments were irrigated with the following rates: MT - 15 sec per bench; EF - 8 min per bench; and CM - 7.6 liters per bench, applied to the mat. Pulse irrigation treatments were leached every two weeks as specified above for regular irrigation.

The following data were recorded daily: weight of test plant, amount of water applied, irrigation number, and amount of run-off. For all regular treatments, run-off water samples were collected every eighth irrigation out of each ten irrigation cycle. For pulse treatments, run-off water samples were collected from every leaching. Water samples were stored at 4.4C until analyzed for pH (Fisher Accummet pH Meter; Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh), EC (Solu-Bridge; Beckman Instruments Inc., Cedar Grove, N.J.), NH₄ (Harwood and Kuhn, 1970), NO₃ (cadmium reduction method, Page et al. 1982), and PO_4 (hydroquinone method, Olsen and Sommers, 1982).

Plants were harvested when at least 50% of each replication reached anthesis (9-13 December, 1993) and the following data were collected: date of anthesis, height, diameter (average of measurements taken at widest point and perpendicular to the first), and quality rating (1 to 5 scale, 1 = poorest and 5 = best salable quality). The poinsettias were severed into bracts and transitional bracts, flowers, leaves, and stems, dried at 65 C for five days and weighed. Leaf tissue was combined into one sample per replication, ground to pass through a 917-µm screen (20 mesh), and stored in air tight jars until analysis. Foliar samples were then analyzed for ammonia-based N by the macro-Kjeldahl method (Horowitz, 1980), PO₄ colorimetrically (Olsen and Sommers, 1982), Mg, Zn, K, Ca, Mn, and Fe (ash method, Isaac and Johnson, 1975) by atomic absorption spectroscopy (model 2380; Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, Conn.). Medium samples were collected as a vertical core of medium from the top to the bottom of each root ball, and combined by replication. Medium samples were air dried and prepared for analysis using a 1:2 (v/v) medium to deionized water ratio. The samples were allowed to equilibrate for thirty min, and pH (Fisher Accumet pH meter, Fisher Scientific) and EC (Solu-Bridge, Beckman Instruments Inc.) was recorded. Medium samples were also analyzed for ammonia-based N (Horowitz, 1980).

The experimental design consisted of a completely randomized four by two factorial with four irrigation systems, two irrigation frequencies, benches as replications and plants as subsamples. Data were analyzed by the general linear model procedure with means separation by orthogonal contrasts and paired *t*-tests comparing all irrigation treatments to the HD treatment (SAS Institute, Cary, N.C.).

1994. Similar materials and methods and the same treatments as in 1993 were used except that plants were propagated on 7 August 1994. The rooted cuttings were planted on 31 August, 1994 and grown with an average air temperature of 23.9/21.2 C day/night. Plants were pinched to six nodes above the medium line on 19 September 1994. Plants were drenched monthly with magnesium sulfate at 600mg-liter⁻¹, and mg-liter⁻¹ soluble trace-element mixture (STEM, Sierra Chemical Co., Milpitas, Calif.) was applied on 17 October 1994; and the amount of water applied was recorded. Poinsettias were harvested 2-7 December 1994.

RESULTS

<u>PLANT GROWTH</u>

Height. In both years, plants grown with the MT, CM, and EF irrigation systems were taller when grown with pulse irrigation than those grown with regular irrigation; however, differences for year 2 were not statistically significant (Table 2.1). For both years, plants grown with HD irrigation were shorter than those grown with other treatments, except in year 2 where plants grown with CM treatments were not significantly taller than those grown with HD irrigation.

Diameter. For year 1, the MT, CM, and EF irrigation systems produced plants with larger diameters when grown with pulse irrigation than those grown with regular irrigation (Table 2.1). In year 2, no significant differences were noted between pulse and regular treatments. In both years, plants grown with HD irrigation had significantly smaller diameters than those grown with any other irrigation system regardless of frequency.

Plant quality. In year one, quality ratings were significantly lower for plants grown with pulse irrigation than regular irrigation (Table 2.1). Regular MT, CM, and EF irrigation did not significantly influence plant quality compared with HD irrigation. In year 2, plant quality was not influenced by irrigation system nor frequency.

Dry weights. In year 1, plants grown with MT, CM, and EF irrigation systems had higher flower, bract, leaf and total dry weights when grown with pulse irrigation than those grown with regular irrigation (Table 2.1). EF pulse irrigation produced plants with significantly higher flower, bract, leaf, stem, and root dry weights than those grown with

HD irrigation. MT pulse and CM pulse irrigation produced plants with higher flower, bract, leaf, and root dry weights than plants from HD irrigation. Pulse subirrigation (CM and EF) produced plants with higher root dry weights than those grown with top irrigation (HD and MT). All irrigation treatments produced plants with higher root dry weight than those grown with HD irrigation, except that root weights for CM regular irrigation were not significantly different than those from HD irrigation. Only EF pulse produced plants with a significantly higher stem weight than those grown with HD irrigation. In year 2, plants irrigated with MT and EF systems had higher flower, bract, and root dry weights when grown with pulse irrigation than those grown with regular irrigation. In addition, total dry weight tended to be equal or higher for pulse irrigated plants than for regular irrigated plants, although no significant differences were found. Total dry weights were significantly lower for plants produced by HD irrigation than all other irrigation systems and frequencies. Plants irrigated with the CM system had higher bract and root dry weights when grown with pulse irrigation than those grown with regular irrigation. Leaf and stem dry weights from plants grown with CM pulse and regular were not significantly different than those of plants grown with HD irrigation. Flower, bract, leaf, stem, and root dry weights were highest for plants produced with MT pulse irrigation, followed by EF pulse. Flower and bract dry weights were lower when grown with HD irrigation than any other irrigation system and frequency. Root dry weight of plants from CM regular were not significantly different than those of plants irrigated by HD.

MEDIUM ANALYSIS

Medium pH. In year 1, while medium pH of plants grown with CM pulse irrigation was significantly lower than that of plants grown with HD irrigation, all other treatments had a medium pH similar to HD irrigation (Table 2.2). For subirrigated plants, medium pH was lower when grown with the CM system than EF irrigation system. For year 2, while EF pulse irrigation resulted in a lower medium pH than HD irrigation, all other treatments had a medium pH similar to HD irrigation.

Medium EC. In year 1, plants grown with pulse irrigation tended to have higher medium EC than those grown with regular irrigation; however, the difference was not significant (Table 2.2). Medium EC in plants grown with GM pulse irrigation was higher than that of plants grown with HD irrigation. For subirrigated plants, medium EC was higher when grown with the CM system than the EF irrigation system. For year 2, plants grown with pulse irrigation tended to have higher medium EC than those grown with regular irrigation with the exception of MT pulse irrigation which produced plants with significantly lower medium EC than plants grown with hand irrigation.

WATER EFFICIENCY

Amount of water applied. For both years, the amount of water applied increased with pulse irrigation (Table 2.2). The CM pulse and regular irrigation treatments required the largest amount of water and significantly more than HD irrigation. Subirrigation systems required more water than top irrigated systems. In year 1, significantly less water was applied to the MT regular irrigation treatment than HD irrigation. The CM pulse treatment required significantly more water than HD irrigation, followed by CM regular and EF pulse, respectively. The amount of water applied to MT pulse and EF regular irrigation treatments was not significantly different from HD irrigation. In year 2, HD, MT regular and EF regular irrigations required similar amounts of water. The CM pulse treatment required significantly more water than HD irrigation, followed by CM regular, MT pulse, and EF pulse, respectively.

Amount of run-off. For both years, the amount of run-off significantly decreased with pulse irrigation, except in the EF system where pulse irrigation produced more run-off than regular irrigation (Table 2.2). The CM regular irrigation treatment lost significantly more water as run-off than HD irrigation. In year 1, all irrigation treatments except CM regular produced less run-off than HD irrigation. The EF regular irrigation treatment produced the least amount of run-off, followed by MT pulse, MT regular, EF pulse, and CM pulse, respectively. In year 2, the amount of run-off produced by MT regular and CM pulse was not significantly different from that of HD irrigation. The EF regular irrigation treatment produced less run-off than HD irrigation, followed by MT pulse and EF pulse, respectively.

<u>RUN-OFF ANALYSIS</u>

Run-off pH. For both years, EF regular irrigation produced run-off with the lowest pH (Table 2.2). In year 1, MT regular and pulse also produced run-off with significantly lower pH than HD irrigation. In year 2, only the EF regular irrigation treatment significantly influenced run-off pH.

Run-off EC. In year 1, the run-off water's EC was highest in MT pulse, followed by CM regular, and CM pulse, respectively (Table 2.2). The EF pulse and regular

irrigation treatments produced run-off with lower EC than HD irrigation, however the differences were not significant. In year 2, the run-off from EF pulse and regular had significantly lower EC than HD irrigation. The CM regular treatment produced run-off with higher EC than HD irrigation. All other irrigation treatments did not significantly influence run-off EC.

Run-off nutrient concentration. In year 1, run-off NO_3 , NH_4 , and PO_4 concentrations tended to be lower with pulse irrigation; however, differences were not significant (Table 2.2). The run-off from EF pulse and MT pulse had lower NH_4 concentrations than HD irrigation. The MT and EF pulse irrigation treatments produced run-off with lower PO_4 concentration than that of HD irrigation. In year 2, run-off NO_3 , NH_4 , and PO_4 concentrations from the MT and EF systems tended to be lower with pulse irrigation; however, the differences were not significant. In contrast, the CM system produced run-off with higher NO_3 , NH_4 , and PO_4 concentrations with pulse irrigation than regular irrigation treatments. The run-off from EF pulse had a lower NO_3 concentration than HD irrigation. The CM pulse irrigation treatment produced run-off with significantly higher NO_3 , NH_4 , and PO_4 concentrations than HD irrigation. The run-off from MT pulse and EF pulse had lower NH_4 and PO_4 concentrations than HD irrigation. The EF regular treatment also produced run-off with a lower NH_4 concentration than HD irrigation.

TISSUE ANALYSIS

Plant tissue nutrient content. For both years, plants irrigated with MT, CM, and EF systems had higher concentrations of foliage N and P when grown with pulse

irrigation than those grown with regular HD irrigation (Table 2.3). Foliage K concentration was significantly lower in plants grown with MT pulse irrigation, and foliage Mn concentrations were significantly higher in plants with CM pulse irrigation than those grown with hand irrigation. Foliage Zn concentrations were not significantly influenced by irrigation system nor frequency. In year one, the combination of subirrigation and pulsing increased N and P concentrations more than top irrigation and pulsing. Foliage Ca concentrations increased with pulse irrigation and were significantly higher in plants grown with both EF pulse and regular irrigation than plants grown with hand irrigation. The MT regular irrigation treatment produced plants with lower Mg concentrations, and EF regular irrigation had significantly higher Fe concentration than plants grown with all other treatments. In year 2, pulse irrigation produced plants with significantly lower foliage K content than hand irrigation. Foliage N concentration was significantly lower in plants from EF regular irrigation than plants from hand irrigation Foliage P and Ca concentrations were lowest when grown with HD treatments. irrigation. Foliage Mg concentrations were significantly higher in plants grown with EF pulse, MT regular, and EF regular, respectively than in plants from HD irrigation. Subirrigation increased foliage Mn concentration in plants grown with pulse irrigation compared to those with regular irrigation, while pulse and regular top irrigated plants had a similar Mn concentration. Foliage Fe concentrations were not significantly influenced by irrigation system nor frequency.

DISCUSSION

IRRIGATION FREQUENCY

Pulse irrigation produced large, vigorous plants and reduced the amount of run-off; thus, the amount of nutrients released as run-off was decreased over the season of the crop (Tables 2.1 and 2.2). Stewart et al. (1981) also found that privet watered daily had thicker stems, greater height, wider diameters, and significantly more dry weight than plants irrigated every other day (bidaily), which was attributed to a more constant water supply. Gilman et al. (1994) noted an increase in plant canopy with 1.3 cm of water applied every day over plants irrigated with 2.5 cm every two to three days; however, caliper was not different. In another study comparing the effects of constant and variable moisture levels on bedding plant growth and quality, de Graaf-van der Zande (1990) found that elevated moisture levels increased height, leaf area, dry and fresh weights, buds, flowers, and shoots of petunia. In contrast, Fare et al. (1994) studied the effect of cyclic irrigation on nursery grown holly plants using equal amounts of water applied either as one continuous irrigation, or divided into two to three cycles of lesser amounts. The results were inconsistent, the irrigation cycles increased shoot growth index in one experiment and had no significant effect in a repetitive experiment (Fare et al., 1994). Similarly, Poole and Conover (1992) found that increased irrigation rates of 2, 3, or 4 times per week resulted in no significant increase in plant growth.

In our experiment, the amount of water applied to pulse plants was just enough to saturate the medium; therefore, no water leached from the container at each fertigation. The amount of run-off recorded was obtained only from leaching with clear, unamended water every fourteenth irrigation (every two weeks) to prevent the build up of excessive salts in the medium. This discussion will include several studies which have similarly investigated the effect of 0.0 leaching fraction (LF) (Yelanich and Biernbaum, 1990, 1993, and 1994; Ku and Hershey, 1991; Conover and Poole, 1992).

Although plants produced on pulse irrigation in year one were larger in height, diameter, and weight, quality ratings were significantly lower than plants produced by regular irrigation (Table 2.1). The low quality ratings for pulse irrigated plants reflected excessively lush and weak growth due to constant moisture and nutrient levels in the root zone. A lower fertilizer concentration may be necessary to prevent luxury nutrient uptake. de Graaf-van der Zande (1990) also noted decreased plant quality and shape with elevated moisture levels and no decrease in fertilizer. Several studies have indicated the need for reduced fertilizer concentration when using more frequent irrigation or decreased LF (Fare et al., 1994; George, 1989; McAvoy, 1994; Yelanich and Biernbaum, 1993). Reduced fertilizer rates or the use of pulse irrigation on short term crops could have increased the desirable effects of this irrigation method.

Pulse irrigation required more water than regular irrigation (Table 2.2), which was probably due to increased evaporation from the medium surface. Laurie and Ries (1950) described peat growing medium as fibers acting as a wick to move water to the surface where evaporation is more rapid. This situation may have been accentuated by the high moisture level during pulse irrigation. Heiskanen (1995) found that proportionally more water evaporated from containers holding medium with a higher moisture level than those with a variable moisture level, or dryer medium. Higher evaporation rates and more frequent water application (daily) accounted for the higher water usage. Although the amount of water applied to pulse treatments was greater than regular treatments, the amount of run-off was greatly reduced by pulse irrigation in the HD, MT, and CM irrigation systems, due to the minimal amount of leachate from each irrigation. However in the EF irrigation system, the pulse treatment produced more run-off than the regular treatment. This difference can also be attributed to a higher constant moisture level. Both frequency treatments received equal amounts of water during leaching, and because the EF system recirculated the irrigation solution, this was the only run-off recorded for EF irrigation. The higher medium moisture level in pulse irrigated plants caused relatively more water to be flushed from the container at each leaching, therefore the amount of run-off was elevated over that of the regular irrigation treatment.

The average NO_3 -N, NH_4 -N, and PO_4 concentrations released in run-off throughout the experiment were lower with pulse irrigation than regular irrigation (Table 2.2). Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990 and 1994) also found that a decreased LF reduced the amount of nutrients lost as run-off. Fare et al. (1994) noted that when irrigated in one continuous water cycle, 68% of applied N was leached as NO_3 ; however, if irrigated with the same amount of water in three cycles, the amount of NO_3 leached was reduced to 11%. The impact of reducing the amount of NO_3 leaching from greenhouse crops was made evident in a nitrate loading study by McAvoy (1994). After only two weeks of irrigation with water soluble fertilizer, NO_3 concentration in the top 15 cm of soil beneath the greenhouse was 3.4 times higher with a high LF than with a low LF. In the current experiment, our results supported the conclusion that regular irrigation did not increase plant growth and significantly increased nutrient concentrations in the run-off.

Medium EC was higher in pulse irrigated plants (Table 2.2); similarly, Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990 and 1994) and Ku and Hershey (1991) found an increase in medium EC with decreasing leaching fraction. However, Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990 and 1994) noted that plant growth was reduced with increasing medium EC (Yelanich and Biernbaum, 1990).

Pulse irrigation produced plants with higher foliage concentrations of N and P (Table 2.3). Yelanich and Biernbaum (1993) found that leaf P and Mg concentrations were also increased with a lower LF. These results may have been due to a higher constant moisture level and higher medium EC, therefore making nutrients more available for plant uptake.

IRRIGATION SYSTEM

Hand-irrigation. In both years, HD irrigation produced shorter plants with a smaller diameter than any other treatment or frequency, and generally lower dry weights than other regular irrigation systems (Table 2.1). Dole et al. (1994) also found that hand irrigation produced smaller plants and attributed the result to touching the plants with the sprayer during irrigation. Brief shaking or touching can reduce stem elongation and growth (Hammer et al., 1974; Turgeon and Webb, 1971). In year two, HD irrigation required the least amount of water; however, due to the large amount of run-off, the system remained inefficient, having lost 32.9% of applied water as run-off. Most water was lost between the pots causing direct run-off. Also, because of the strong spray of

water applied, the medium may have become compacted and retained less water (Dole et. al. (1994).

Microtube irrigation. As with Dole et al. (1994), plants produced by MT irrigation had the second greatest total dry weight in year one, and the greatest in year two (Table 2.1). The MT irrigation system used the least amount of water in year one and slightly greater than HD in year two, and as with Rathier and Frink (1989), MT irrigation run-off had the lowest nutrient concentrations both years (Table 2.2). The slow rate of water application with MT irrigation may have caused less mass flow of water and less nutrient ions to be flushed from the pot. The percentage of applied water lost as run-off was similar to that of the EF system (Table 2.2). Therefore, the total amount of nutrients released from MT irrigation was lower than HD and CM irrigation. The low amount of run-off may be due to high water retention. Dole et al. (1994) found the water retention rate of MT irrigated plants was greater than those irrigated with HD or CM systems.

Capillary mat irrigation. The CM irrigation system produced plants with greater total dry weight than HD irrigation but similar in some plant growth factors such as height, and leaf, stem, and root dry weights (Table 2.1). The N concentration of the plant tissue was slightly greater in year one, and significantly greater in year two than those produced by other irrigation systems (Table 2.3). Medium EC from the CM system was significantly greater than HD, and may have suppressed potential growth due to an elevated plant N concentration, so that plant growth was not greater than other plants with lower N concentrations (Yelanich and Biernbaum, 1990). In addition, the CM system used the greatest amount of water and produced the greatest amount of run-off, while nutrient concentrations in the run-off were greater than any other irrigation treatment (Table 2.2). Thus, the amount of nutrients lost as run-off was much greater than all other treatments which agrees with Dole et al. (1994). In our study, the large amount of water required by the CM system was attributed to evaporation from the mats, accentuated by high light intensity and high temperatures. Biernbaum et al. (1991) found that 30-60% of total water lost from a containerized plant was caused by evaporation from the medium surface. The addition of the mat extended the area of evaporation causing an even greater percentage of water to be lost. In contrast, Alleman et al. (1994) found that water efficiency was significantly improved by use of capillary mat systems in New York state, where fall/winter light intensity and temperatures would be lower than Oklahoma. A large amount of nutrients may have been held within the absorbent mat; however, further research is needed to determine if the amount is significant.

Ebb-and-flow irrigation. Plants irrigated by EF had the greatest total dry weight in year one, and the second greatest in year two, interchanging with the MT system (Table 2.1). Although the EF system required the second greatest amount of water, the average amount of run-off was only 6.6% for year 1, and 8.7% for year two, and was obtained only from leaching. The NO₃-N, NH₄-N, and PO₄-P run-off concentrations reported were the result of samples taken from the sump tanks holding the fertilizer solution and run-off from periodic leaching. If samples had been taken from only the effluent that is lost to the environment, the run-off concentrations would have been much lower. The EF irrigation system was water efficient, and because of the lack of run-off with this subirrigation system, the potential for groundwater contamination was greatly reduced. In support, George (1989) found that subirrigation could produce plants with similar quality of top irrigation, while using only half as much fertilizer. Similarly, many studies have concluded that subirrigated plants could benefit from reduced fertilizer rates (Barrett, 1991; Molitor, 1990; Nelson, 1991).

In summary, pulse irrigation increased water use efficiency, reduced the amount of nutrients lost as run-off, and produced large, vigorous plants. The MT and EF irrigation systems were both water and fertilizer efficient. The CM irrigation system was the least water efficient, used the greatest amount of water, produced the greatest amount of run-off, and released the greatest amount of NO₃-N, NH₄-N, and PO₄-P to the environment. The commonly-used HD irrigation produced the smallest plants, with reduced height, diameter, and dry weight. By reducing applied fertilizer rates, and using the EF or MT irrigation system with pulse irrigation frequency, growers could greatly decrease potential contamination to ground and surface water sources, while producing high quality, profitable plants. Also, operating costs would be lowered by increasing water and fertilizer efficiency.

LITERATURE CITED

- Alleman, D.M. and T.C. Weiler. 1994. Comparison of greenhouse benching/irrigation systems for water use, fertilizer use, and crop quality with poinsettias and geraniums. HortScience 29(5):452. Abstr.
- Barrett, J. 1991. Water and fertilizer movement in greenhouse subirrigation systems. Greenhouse Manager 10(2):89-90.
- Biernbaum, J.A., W. Argo, and M. Yelanich. 1991. Effect of a pot cover on irrigation and fertilizer requirements and media nutrient stratification. HortScience 26(6):764. Abstr.
- Conover C.A. and R.T. Poole. 1992. Effect of fertilizer and irrigation on leachate levels of NH₄, NO₃, and P in container production of *Nephrolepsis exalta* 'Fluffy Ruffle'. J. Environ. Hort. 10(4):238-241.
- Dole J.M., J.C. Cole, and S.L. von Broembsen. 1994. Growth of poinsettias, nutrient leaching, and water-use efficiency respond to irrigation methods. HortScience 29(8):858-864.
- Ecke, P., Jr., O.A. Matkin, and D.E. Hartley. 1990. The poinsettia manual. Paul Ecke Poinsettias, Encinitas, Calif.
- Fare, D.C., C.H. Gilliam, and G.J. Keever. 1994. Cyclic irrigation reduces container leachate nitrate-nitrogen concentration. HortScience 29(12):1514-1517.
- George, R.K. 1989. Flood subirrigation systems for greenhouse production and the potential for disease spread. M.S. Thesis, Michigan State University, East Lansing.
- Gilman, E.F., G.W. Knox, C.A. Neil, and U. Yadav. 1994. Microirrigation affects growth and root distribution of trees in fabric containers. HortTechnology Jan./Mar. 1(4):43-45.
- de Graaf-van der Zande, M.T. 1990. Watering strategies in bedding plant culture: effect on plant growth and keeping quality. Acta Hort. 272:191-196.

- Hammer, P.A., C.A. Mitchell, and T.C. Weiler. 1974. Height control in greenhouse production and the potential for disease spread. MS Thesis, Michigan State Univ., East Lansing.
- Harwood J. E. and A.L. Kuhn. 1970. A colorimetric method for ammonium in natural waters. Water Research Pergamon Press. pp. 805-811.
- Heiskanen, J. 1995. Water status of sphagnum peat and a peat-perlite mixture in containers subjected to irrigation regimes. HortScience 30(2):281-284.
- Horowitz, W. 1980. Official methods of analysis of the Association of Analytical Chemists, 13th ed. Assoc. of Official Anal. Chem., Washington D.C., p. 15. section 2.058.
- Isaac, R.A. and Johnson, W.C., Jr., 1975. Collaborative study of wet and dry techniques for the elemental analysis of plant tissue by atomic absorption spectrophotometry. Assoc. Offic. Anal. Chem., 58:436.
- Ku, C.S.M. and D.R. Hershey. 1991. Leachate electrical conductivity and growth of potted poinsettia with leaching fractions of 0 to 0.4. J. Amer. Soc. Sci. 116(5):802-806.
- Laurie, A. and V.H. Ries. 1950. Floriculture. Fundamentals and practices. 2nd ed., McGraw-Hill, New York. p.#32-35.
- McAvoy, R.J. 1994. Nitrate nitrogen movement through the soil profile beneath a containerized greenhouse crop irrigated with two leaching fractions and two wetting agent levels. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 119(3):446-451.
- Molitor, H.D. 1990. The European perspective with emphasis on subirrigation and recirculation of water and nutrients. Acta Hort. 272:165-173.
- Nelson, P.V. 1991. Greenhouse operation and management. 4th ed. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- Olsen, S.R. and L.E. Sommers. 1982. Phosphorus, p. 404 430. In: A.L. Page, R.H. Miller, and P.R. Keeney (eds.). Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbial Properties. Amer. Soc. Agron., Inc. and Soil Sci. Amer. Inc., Madison, WI.
- Page A.L., R.H. Miller, and P.R. Keeney. 1982. Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbial Properties. Amer. Soc. Agron., Inc. and Soil Sci. Amer. Inc., Madison, WI.

- Poole R.T. and C.A. Conover. 1992. Fertilizer levels and medium affect foliage plant growth in an ebb and flow irrigation system. J. Environ. Hort. 10(4):81-86.
- Rathier T.M. and C.R. Frink. 1989. Nitrate in runoff water from container grown juniper and Alberta spruce under different irrigation and N fertilization regimes. J. Environ. Hort. 7(1):32-35.
- Stewart J.S., L.J. Lund, and R.L. Branson. 1981. Nitrogen balances for container-grown privet. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 106(5):565-569.
- Turgeon, R. and J.A. Webb. 1971. Growth inhibition by mechanical stress. Science 174:961-962.
- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1990. Effect of fertilizer concentration and method of application on media nutrient concentration, nitrogen runoff and growth of *Euphorbia pulcherrima* 'V-14 Glory'. Acta Hort. 272:185-189.
- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1993. Root-medium nutrient concentration and growth of poinsettia at three fertilizer concentrations and four leaching fraction. J Amer. Hort. Sci. 118(6):771-776.
- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1994. Fertilizer concentration and leaching affect nitrate-nitrogen leaching from potted poinsettia. HortScience 29(8):874-875.

of Euphorbia pulcherrima 'Gutbier V-14 Glory's grown with 220	verage of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants.		
Table 2.1. Influence of irrigation system and frequency on growth of Euphorbia pulcherrima 'Gutbier V-14 Glory' ² grown with 220	mg-liter ⁻¹ N. Year one-1993 and year two-1994. Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants.	•	
Table 2.1. I	mg-liter ⁻¹ N.		

							Dry Wo	Dry Weights (g)		
Irrigation system	Irrigation frequency	Height (cm)	Diameter (cm)	Quality rating ^Y	Flowers	Bracts	Leaves	Stems	Roots	Total
				Year one - 1993	- 1993					
Hand	Regular	23.1	45.8	3.7	6.0	9.1	6.0	5.7	3.0	24.8
Microtube	Pulse	28.3	60.1	2.6	1.3**	14.0	8.0 <mark>**</mark>	7.4 ^{NS}	4.1	35.2**
Microtube	Regular	25.6 *	51.4	3.8 ^{NS}	1.0 ^{NS}	10.9 ^{NS}	7.2 ^{NS}	7.3 ^{NS}	4.2*	30.5 ^{NS}
Capillary mat	Pulse	29.4	55.1 **	2.7	1.3**	11.8"	8.8	6.9 ^{NS}	5.1***	33.5**
Capillary mat	Regular	26.3	5 3.0	3.0 ^{NS}	0.8 ^{NS}	9.9 ^{NS}	6.8 ^{NS}	6.1 ^{NS}	3.8 ^{NS}	26.7 ^{NS}
Ebb-and-flow	Pulse	31.5***	60.6	2.2	1.6	15.9***	10.9	8.7*	5.5	44.0
Ebb-and flow	Regular	24.2 ^{NS}	52.2*	3.6 ^{NS}	1.0 ^{NS}	10.6 ^{NS}	7.5	6.3 ^{NS}	4.3*	30.4 ^{NS}
Contrasts						×.				-
Pulse v. regular		***	*	***	*	***	* *	SN	*	*
Subirrigation v. top irrigation	op irrigation	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	*	NS	SN	SN
Ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	capill a ry mat	SN	NS	SN	*	¥ ¥	*	SN	SN	**

Interactions

Frequency and subirrigation v. top irrigation	op irrigation	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	*	SN	*	SN
Frequency and ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	b-and-flow	*	SN	SN	SN	*	SN	SN	SN	SN
				Year two -	- 1994					
Hand	Regular	21.9	40.5	3.0	0.4	3.5	3.5	1.8	1.7	10.6
Microtube	Pulse	27.6	54.5	3.0 ^{NS}	 6 [.] 0	8.2**	6.3	4.1***	2.8	21.3***
Microtube	Regular	25.1 ^{***}	52.7	3.0 ^{NS}	0.6	6.4	5.4	3.1***	2.1"	17.5***
Capillary mat	Pulse	22.9 ^{NS}	45.2	3.2 ^{NS}	0.5"	4.8	3.7 ^{NS}	2.0 ^{NS}	2.2	13.2
Capillary mat	Regular	22.6 ^{NS}	47.5	3.4 ^{NS}	0.5"	4.6"	3.8 ^{NS}	2.1 ^{NS}	1.9 ^{NS}	13.2*
Ebb-and-flow	Pulse	26.2	53.5	3.3 ^{NS}	0.8	7.2***	6.2	3.6***	2.8	20.8
Ebb-and-flow	Regular	24.9	52.7	3.1 ^{NS}	0.7	6.4	5.4	3.2***	2.3	18.7***
Contrasts										
Pulse v. regular		SN	SN	SN	*	*	SN	SN	*	SN
Subirrigation v. top irrigation	op irrigation	SN	NS	SN	NS	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN

Ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	NS	SN	NS	SN	SN	NS	SN	NS	NS
Interactions									
Frequency and subirrigation v. top irrigation	NS	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	*	SN	SN
Frequency and ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	SN	SN	SN	NS	SN	SN	SN	SN	NS
² Planting date; Year one, 5 September 1993; Year two, 31 August 1994 and each replication harvested when 50% of the plants	tember 1993;	Year two	o, 31 Aug	ust 1994 a	nd each rep	lication har	vested whe	en 50% of	the plants

lts) | \$ reached anthesis. ^Y 1-5 rating with 5 the best. •••••• ^{NS}Significant at P<u><</u>0.05, 0.01, 0.001 or nonsignificant, respectively, as compared to hand irrigation.

and the second se

W		Ŵ	Medium	Applied			×	Run-off		
Irrigation method (mg·liter ⁻¹)	Irrigation frequency	Hq	EC (mS)	water (liter)	Water (liter)	Hq	EC (mS) (i	NO ₃ -N mg-liter ¹)	NO ₃ -N NH ₄ -N (mg-liter ¹) (mg-liter ¹)	PO4-P
				Year one - 1993	663					
Hand	Regular	5.7	1.9	294.4	93.4	6.5	1.8	94.3	100.0	26.7
Microtube	Pulse	5.7 ^{NS}	2.2 ^{NS}	266.4 ^{NS}	15.7***	6.0	2.9 "	81.3 ^{NS}	53.1"	17.4 ^{NS}
Microtube	Regular	6.0 ^{NS}	1.8 ^{NS}	195.5***	27.0	6.1"	2.2 ^{NS}	98.1 ^{NS}	78.1 ^{NS}	30.6 ^{NS}
Capillary mat	Pulse	5.2°	3.8	811.0	77.1	6.4 ^{NS}	2.6	104.9 ^{NS}	87.5 ^{NS}	33.4 ^{NS}
Capillary mat	Regular	5.3 ^{NS}	2.7 ^{NS}	508.5***	109.8	6.6 ^{NS}	2.8"	147.2**	118.8 ^{NS}	50.4
Ebb-and-flow	Pulse	5.5 ^{NS}	3.0 ^{NS}	396.9	30.4***	6.5 ^{NS}	1.5 ^{NS}	72.1 ^{NS}	46.9**	13.6 ^{NS}
Ebb-and-flow	Regular	5.3 ^{NS}	2.2 ^{NS}	302.8 ^{NS}	15.6***	5.8	1.7 ^{NS}	124.6 ^{NS}	100.0 ^{NS}	36.5 ^{NS}
Contrasts										
Pulse v. regular		SN	SN	*	*	NS	SN	SN	NS	NS
Subirrigation v. top irrigation	p irrigation	SN	SN	*	SN	SN	SN	NS	SN	SN

Table 2.2. Influence of irrigation system and frequency on medium pH and EC, water use, and run-off nutrient content of Euphorbia

Ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	capillary mat	¥	*	*	NS	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN
Interactions										
Frequency and subirrigation v. top irrigation	p irrigation	*	SN	* *	**	ŞN	SN	SN	SN	SN
Frequency and ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	apillary mat	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN
				Year two - 1	1994					
Hand	Regular	5.8	3.2	181.9	59.8	6.2	2.7	167.4	252.1	62.9
Microtube	Pulse	5.7 ^{NS}	1.9**	259.8	22.4	6.3 ^{NS}	2.3 ^{NS}	106.4 ^{NS}	143.1**	25.1"
Microtube	Regular	5.6 ^{NS}	2.8 ^{NS}	193.7 ^{NS}	64.5 ^{NS}	6.0 ^{NS}	3.0 ^{NS}	154.7 ^{NS}	210.9 ^{NS}	79.1 ^{NS}
Capillary mat	Pulse	5.6 ^{NS}	4.2 ^{NS}	827.9***	52.3 ^{NS}	6.2 ^{NS}	4.8	315.6	344.7*	90.4
Capillary mat	Regular	5.6 ^{NS}	2.7 ^{NS}	485.4***	136.0***	6.3 ^{NS}	3.2 ^{NS}	169.9 ^{NS}	207.4 ^{NS}	48.5 ^{NS}
Ebb-and-flow	Pulse	5.5*	4.2 ^{NS}	230.6**	22.6	6.3 ^{NS}	2.1*	91.5	124.1	28.7**
Ebb-and-flow	Regular	5.6 ^{NS}	3.4 ^{NS}	201.7 ^{NS}	15.0***	5.5**	1.9**	114.9 ^{ns}	160.7*	50.4 ^{NS}
Contrasts										
Pulse v. regular		SN	SN	***	* *	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN

Subirrigation v. top irrigation	SN	SN	*	NS	SN	*	*	SN	NS
Ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	SN	NS	***	* *	SN	NS	SN	NS	SN
Interactions									
Frequency and subirrigation v. top irrigation	SN	SN	**	*	SN	* * *	* *	SN	*
Frequency and ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	SN	SN	* * *	*	NS	NS	NS	SN	SN

² Planting date; Year one, 5 September 1993; Year two, 31 August 1994 and harvested when 50% of the plants reached anthesis.

ij	(Si	
Sonte	inche	
ento	ŝ	
itti	tions	
sue r	licat	
f tis	l ich	
z lea	three	
,	mo	
4 GI	ta fr	
-1-	f da	
bier	ge o	
Gut	vera	
ma	an a	
verri	area	
pulct	ans	
bia p	Me	
and frequency on Euphorbia pulcherrima 'Gutbier V-14 Glory" leaf tissue nutrient content	1993 and year two-1994. Means are an average of data from three replications (be	
Eu	0-19	
y on	LT TW	
uenc	l yea	
frequ	and	
and	993	
em	ne-1	
syst	ar o	
tion	ž	
miga	ż	
ofi	Ter	
ence	l-gu	
nflu	201	
N	ith 2	nts.
e 2.3	W	i pla
Table 2.3. Influence of irrigation system	grown with 220 mg-liter ⁻¹ N. Year one-19	of 16 plants.
-		-

Irrigation	Irrigation			%				ug.g ^{.1}	
System	Frequency	z	PO4-P	К	ű	Mg	Zn	Fe	Mn
				Year one - 1993	1993				
Hand	Regular	4.5	0.80	2.1	1.3	6.0	32.7	76.3	59.3
Microtube	Pulse	4.7 ^{NS}	0.85 ^{NS}	1.7	1.4 ^{NS}	0.9 ^{NS}	21.7 ^{NS}	148.3 ^{NS}	71.3 ^{NS}
Microtube	Regular	4.3 ^{NS}	0.71 ^{NS}	2.0 ^{NS}	1.2 ^{NS}	0.8	30.3 ^{NS}	167.0 ^{NS}	53.3 ^{NS}
Capillary mat	Pulse	5.1"	1.23	2.1 ^{NS}	1.4 ^{NS}	1.0 ^{NS}	24.3 ^{NS}	120.3 ^{NS}	95.7**
Capillary mat	Regular	4.8 ^{NS}	0.98 ^{NS}	2.2 ^{NS}	1.3 ^{NS}	0.9 ^{NS}	36.0 ^{NS}	113.0 ^{NS}	68.7 ^{NS}
Ebb-and-flow	Pulse	5.0*	1.17**	2.0 ^{NS}	1.5"	1.0 ^{NS}	20.7 ^{NS}	114.0 ^{NS}	71.0 ^{NS}
Ebb-and-flow	Regular	4.8 ^{NS}	1.00 ^{NS}	2.0 ^{NS}	1.4*	1.0 ^{NS}	21.7 ^{NS}	249.5	51.3 ^{NS}
Contrasts									
Pulse v. regular		*	SN	NS	*	SN	SN	NS	SN
Subirrigation v. top irrigation	top irrigation	SN	SN	NS	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN

Ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	r. capillary mat	NS	¥	SN	SN	NS	NS	NS	NS
<u>Interactions</u>									
Frequency and subirrigation v. top irrigation	top irrigation	NS	SN	SN	SN	SN	NS	SN	SN
Frequency and Ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	. capillary mat	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	NS	SN	SN
				Year two -	1994				
Hand	Regular	5.0	0.73	2.9	1.0	0.7	42.0	134.0	65.0
Microtube	Pulse	5.3°	1.08	2.0	1.2	0.8 ^{NS}	37.3 ^{NS}	201.3 ^{NS}	61.7 ^{NS}
Microtube	Regular	5.2 ^{NS}	 66.0	2.5 ^{NS}	1.2**	0.8	35.0 ^{NS}	134.3 ^{NS}	70.0 ^{NS}
Capillary mat	Pulse	6.0 **	1.09	2.5	1.4	0.8 ^{NS}	41.0 ^{NS}	194.7 ^{NS}	87.0
Capillary mat	Regular	5.2 ^{NS}	0.85 ^{NS}	2.5	1.3**	0.8 ^{NS}	41.7 ^{NS}	111.7 ^{NS}	52.7 ^{NS}
Ebb-and-flow	Pulse	5.3	1.07"	2.4	1.3**	 6 [.] 0	36.3 ^{NS}	157.3 ^{NS}	73.3 ^{NS}
Ebb-and-flow	Regular	4.7*	0.96*	2.6 ^{NS}	1.2**	0.8	47.0 ^{NS}	99.0 ^{ws}	50.3 ^{NS}
Contrasts									
Pulse v. regular		SN	NS	*	NS	SN	NS	NS	SN
Subirrigation v. top irrigation	top irrigation	SN	SN	SN	NS	NS	SN	SN	*

Ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	SN	SN	SN	¥	SN	NS	SN	SN
Interactions								
Frequency and subirrigation v. top irrigation	SN	NS	SN	SN	SN	NS	NS	SN
Frequency and ebb-and-flow v. capillary mat	SN	SN	NS	NS	SN	SN	SN	SN
² Dianting date: Vear one 5 Sentember 1003: Vear two 31 Aumist 1004 and each realization harvested when 50% of the alants	ntember 100	3. Vear hun	31 Aumo	+ 1004 and	aach manlin	ation hamaet	ad when 500	s of the plants

Fianting date; Year one, 5 September 1993; Year two, 31 August 1994 and each replication harvested when 50% of the plants reached anthesis.

CHAPTER III

EFFECTS OF FERTILIZER SOURCE AND IRRIGATION SYSTEM ON PLANT GROWTH, AND NITROGEN PARTITIONING

Jaime K. Morvant, John M. Dole, and Janet C. Cole. <u>Department of Horticulture and</u> <u>Landscape Architecture, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078-6027</u>.
Earl Allen. <u>Department of Agronomy, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK</u> 74078-0507.

<u>Additional index words</u>. *Pelargonium hortorum* 'Pinto Red', microtube, ebb-and-flow, capillary mat, controlled release fertilizer, constant liquid fertilizer, run-off, greenhouse irrigation system.

Abbreviations. CLF, constant liquid fertilizer; CRF controlled release fertilizer; HD, hand-irrigation; MT, microtube; EF, ebb-and-flow; CM, capillary mat; EC, electrical conductivity.

Abstract. Pelargonium hortorum 'Pinto Red' were grown with 260 mg·liter⁻¹ N applied as 1) 100% CLF composed of 410 mg·liter⁻¹ NH_4NO_3 , 484 mg·liter⁻¹ $(NH_4)_2PO_5$, and 520 mg·liter⁻¹ K_2SO_4 , plus 0.04 g triple superphosphate, 2) 50% CRF + 50% CLF composed of 205 mg·liter⁻¹ NH_4NO_3 , 242 mg·liter⁻¹ $(NH_4)_2PO_5$, and 260 mg liter⁻¹ K₂SO₄, plus 0.02 g triple superphosphate, and 5.33 g CRF (Osmocote 14-14-14) per pot, 3) 100% CRF consisting of 10.65 g CRF (Osmocote 14-14-14) per pot and irrigated with unamended water using hand-irrigation (HD), microtube (MT), ebband-flow (EF), and capillary mat (CM) irrigation systems. Fertilizer rates were calculated to produce equal amounts of retained N among the three fertilizer treatments based on irrigation number. MT irrigation produced the greatest growth, HD irrigation produced the least, and CM and EF were intermediate. The EF system was the most water efficient, followed by MT. The treatments receiving 50% CLF/50% CRF or 100% CRF produced greater total dry weights, and significantly lower concentrations of NO₃, NH₄, and PO₄ in the run-off than the 100% CLF treatment. The 100% CRF treatment significantly increased the amount of nutrients retained (not lost as run-off) with up to 98.3% N and 99.8% P being retained. The percent of N lost as run-off was also reduced with the use of CRF.

INTRODUCTION

Greenhouse container crop production is limited by the amount of nutrients and water available to the plant from a small volume of growing medium held within the containers. This limitation leads to more frequent irrigation and fertilization compared to plants grown in the field without container restriction. The result of more intense irrigation and fertilization is possible contamination of ground and surface water sources. Irrigation practices that conserve water and fertilizer also reduce the potential of contaminating water sources. The need for more conservative cultural practices presents growers with the concern of sacrificing plant quality, and subsequently, profit. Several studies have indicated that high quality plants can be grown using subirrigation systems. Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990) found that subirrigated plants were of acceptable quality and noted that the excess amount of run-off produced in greenhouse production can be controlled by decreasing the amount of water and fertilizer applied at each irrigation or by changing to a subirrigated system with recirculated water and fertilizer solutions. When compared to overhead, or top irrigation, ebb-and-flow produced higher quality plants (Conover and Poole, 1992, Dole et al., 1994). Ebb-and-flow irrigation, at a fertilizer rate of 175 mg-liter⁻¹ of nitrogen, produced poinsettias with the greatest total dry weight per liter of water applied, when compared to capillary mats, hand-watering, and microtube (Dole et al., 1994).

On the other hand, capillary mat subirrigation used the highest amount of water and released the greatest amount of run-off when compared to ebb-and-flow, handwatering, and microtube irrigation (Dole et al., 1994). Alleman and Weiler (1994) noted contrasting results, where water efficiency was significantly increased by use of recirculated irrigation water and capillary mats.

Microtube irrigation systems, also referred to as trickle or drip irrigation, are used in outdoor containerized or field crop production. Rathier and Frink (1989) found that in containerized juniper and spruce production, trickle irrigation used less water and released run-off with a lower N concentration than overhead sprinkler irrigation, while N loading to the soil and N loss due to leaching were decreased. For greenhouse production, microtube irrigation caused more water to be retained in the medium and produced plants with the greatest dry weight compared to capillary mats, ebb-and-flow, and hand-watering (Dole et al., 1994).

Types of overhead irrigation include sprinklers, mist systems, and manual or handwatering. Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990) state that a 10-15% leaching fraction (LF) is recommended for overhead watering, but noted that some growers leach more than 40-50%. Dole et al. (1994) found that hand-watering produced higher quality plants only at a higher fertilizer rate than other systems. For example, hand-watering produced plants with greater dry weight at 250 mg·liter⁻¹ N than at 175 mg·liter⁻¹ N, with a greater volume of run-off than microtube irrigation (Dole et al., 1994).

The type and method of fertilizer application also influences the release of nutrients and their concentrations in run-off water. Two types of fertilizer are typically used in greenhouse crop production: constant liquid fertilizer (CLF) and controlled release fertilizer (CRF). These two types of fertilizer affect plant growth and leachate content differently. Production of plants with CLF relies on porous medium and excessive amounts of water to provide leaching and can produce unacceptable levels of nitrates in leachate (Conover and Poole, 1992). CRF is known to decrease N run-off and increase N retention by the crop (Cox, 1985). Conover and Poole (1992) found no significant difference in plant height, quality, or EC for plants grown with either CRF or CLF in an ebb-and-flow system; however, foliage plants grown with CRF used more water than those grown with CLF. Hershey and Paul (1982) found that N loss ranged from 12-23% for CRF, while N loss for CLF was 12-48%. Rathier and Frink (1989) found that CRF could be more efficient if applied in split applications, which prevented

high initial N release and high N concentrations in leachate. In a nitrogen balance experiment, Stewart et al. (1981) found that N concentration in leachate was significantly lower for CRF than for CLF containing either ammonium sulfate or calcium nitrate. This study determined the effect of irrigation methods and fertilizer source on plant growth, and nitrogen and phosphorus partitioning of potted geraniums.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Commercially grown *Pelargonium hortorum* 'Pinto Red' geranium seedling plugs were planted three per pot on 3 February 1994 using 1.5 liters of 3 peat moss :1 perlite :1 vermiculite medium (by volume) amended with 6.87 g dolomite per 15 cm (1270-ml) azalea pot. The medium had 80.0% porosity, 70.2% total water-holding capacity, 48.0% available water, and 22.2% unavailable water, based on oven dried medium. Plants were grown in a corrugated polycarbonate covered greenhouse with an average air temperature of 29.8/19.7C day/night, and maximum PPF of 1296 µmol·m⁻²·s⁻¹. Standard disease and insect controlled procedures were followed (White, 1993).

Plants were spaced 38 by 38 cm on containerized benches and irrigated with one of three irrigation treatments 1) 100% of the recommended rate of CLF composed of 410 mg·liter⁻¹ NH₄NO₃, 484 mg·liter⁻¹ (NH₄)₂PO₅, and 520 mg·liter⁻¹ K₂SO₄, plus 0.04 g triple superphosphate, and 6.87 g dolomite per pot, 2) 50% of the recommended rate of CRF + 50% of the recommended rate of CLF composed of 205 mg·liter⁻¹ NH₄NO₃, 242 mg·liter⁻¹ (NH₄)₂PO₅, and 260 mg·liter⁻¹ K₂SO₄, plus 0.02 g triple superphosphate, 6.87 g dolomite, and 5.33 g CRF (Osmocote 14-14-14) per pot, 3) 100% of the recommended rate of CRF consisting of 6.87 g dolomite, and 10.65 g CRF (Osmocote 14-14-14) per pot and irrigated with unamended water. Fertilizer amounts were calculated to provide a total of 260 mg liter⁻¹ N with equal amounts of NH_4 -N, NO_3 -N, and P per fertilizer treatment. Rates were based on 12 irrigations with fertilizer solution, three leachings with unamended water, and 330 ml of water retained per pot. Since actual water retention volumes vary depending on irrigation system, the water retention volume used was an average of values reported by Dole et al. (1994).

To determine the target irrigation weight, 18 additional plugs were planted in six pots as described above, watered, and allowed to dry to the point that wilting was first observed. At this time, the weight of the entire plant, pot, and medium was recorded. The plants were then watered to saturation and weighed again to determine container capacity. Target irrigation weights were calculated as follows: [(Container capacity wilting point weight) (0.40)] + wilting point weight = the total plant weight at 40% container capacity. The target test plant weight was obtained by averaging the weights of the six geranium pots at 40% container capacity. One previously selected test plant from each replication was weighed daily. Each of the four treatments were irrigated when the test plant of each replication was at or below the set target irrigation weight.

The plants were irrigated by one of four irrigation systems 1) hand-watering (HD) (16-mm internal diameter hose and breaker nozzle, 2) microtube (MT) [2.5-mm main line, 1.9-mm internal diameter leader tubes and lead weight emitters (Chapin Watermatics, Watertown, N.Y.)], 3) ebb-and-flow (EF) [1.5 by 1.8-m bench top, 190-liter tank, pump, and drain tube (Midwest Gromaster, St. Charles, Ill.)], or 4) capillary mat (CM) [1.5 by

1.8-m black plastic (6-mm) bottom layer, mat, and black perforated plastic covering (Vattex Capillary Watering System; OS Plastics, Norcross, Ga.)]. Sixteen plants were placed on each bench.

In the recirculating EF system, water was contained in a covered tank, pumped to the containerized bench top, held for the designated time to allow uptake by plants, and drained back into the tank after each irrigation. This system only releases run-off from periodic leachings with unamended water; the bench is unplugged, allowing the excess water to flow from the bench top rather than into the tank. The tanks were filled to capacity with the appropriate fertilizer solution periodically and at the end of the growing season to determine the amount of water applied. The MT and HD irrigation treatments had a 0.3-0.5 leaching fraction. The CM treatment was irrigated by applying the designated amount of water to the mat, allowing the mat and plants to take up water for 15 min, then draining the excess water from the mat by draping one edge of the mat over the edge of the bench for 15 min. The run-off water was collected in a trough that hung from the edge of the bench and was slanted slightly downward toward a bucket. The runoff from other treatments and leaches was collected from a drain under each bench, and measured. The exact amount of water applied at each irrigation was determined with a flow meter (Electronic Digital Meter, Great Plains Industries) installed in the water line.

Irrigation amounts were as follows: HD - two sec per pot, at a flow rate of 17.0 liters/min (Electronic Digital Meter; Great Plains Industries, Wichita, KS.), MT - 60 sec per bench, at a flow rate of 17.0 liters/min, EF - 14 min per bench, CM - 75 sec per bench applied to the mat with 17.0 liters/min flow rate. The HD, EF, and CM treatments

were leached from top to bottom every fifth irrigation with unamended water for two sec per pot with a 17.0 liters/min flow rate. The CM mats were leached an additional 15 sec and drained to reduce soluble salt concentration in the mats. The MT treatments were leached for 75 sec with unamended water at a flow rate of 17.0 liters/min.

The following data were recorded daily: weight of test plant, amount of water applied, irrigation number, and amount of run-off. For all treatments, applied fertilizer solution and run-off water samples were collected for each irrigation treatment or leaching. Samples were stored at 4.4C until analyzed for pH (Fisher Accummet pH Meter; Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh), EC (Solu-bridge; Beckman Instruments Inc., Cedar Grove, N.J.), NH₄ (Harwood and Kuhn, 1970), NO₃ (cadmium reduction method, Page et al., 1982), and PO₄ (hydroquinone method, Olsen and Sommers, 1982).

Plants were harvested when each treatment received 15 irrigations (19 March-17 April 1994) and the following data were collected: date of anthesis, height, diameter (average of measurement taken at widest point and perpendicular to the first), and quality rating (1 to 5 scale, 1 = poorest and 5 = best salable quality).

The geranium shoots were removed, dried at 65C for five days, and weighed. Shoot tissue was combined into one sample per replication, ground to pass through a 917- μ m screen (20 mesh), and stored in air tight containers until analyzed for ammonia-based N by the macro Kjeldahl method (Horowitz, 1980), PO₄ colorimetrically (Olsen and Sommers, 1982), and Mg, Zn, K, Ca, Mn, and Fe (ashing method, Isaac and Johnson, 1975) by atomic absorption spectroscopy (model 2380; Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, Conn.). The roots of 10 plants per replication were washed, dried at 65C for five days, and

weighed. Roots were combined into one sample per replication, ground and stored as described above, and analyzed for ammonia-based N content (Horowitz, 1980), PO4 colorimetrically (Olsen and Sommers, 1982), and Mg, Zn, K, Ca, Mn, and Fe (Isaac and Johnson, 1975) by atomic absorption spectroscopy (model 2380; Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, Conn.). The remaining six root balls were left intact, dried at 65C for five days, then weighed to determine the amount of medium remaining in pots. Medium samples were collected as a vertical core of medium from the top to the bottom of each root ball, and combined by replication. Medium samples were allowed to air dry and prepared for analysis using a 1:2 (v/v) medium to deionized water ratio. The samples were allowed to equilibrate for thirty minutes, and pH (Fisher Accumet pH meter, Fisher Scientific) and EC (Solu-bridge, Beckman Instruments Inc.) were recorded. Medium samples were also analyzed for ammonia based N (Horowitz, 1980) and PO₄ (Olsen and Sommers, 1982) using a saturated medium extract. Samples of each capillary mat were taken from three randomly selected areas on each mat. Three 13-cm² samples from each mat were placed in 500 ml of deionized water and allowed to equilibrate for 24 hours. The mat samples were removed, and the resulting solution was analyzed for pH (Fisher Accummet pH Meter, Fisher Scientific), EC (Solu-bridge, Beckman Instruments Inc.), NH₄ (Harwood and Kuhn, 1970), NO₃ (Page et al., 1982), and PO₄ (Olsen and Sommers, 1982).

To provide initial nutrient data for the nitrogen partitioning, medium and geranium plug samples were collected prior to the experiment. The medium samples were allowed to air dry and analyzed as described above to determine the initial pH (Fisher Accumet pH Meter, Fisher Scientific), EC (Solu-bridge, Beckman Instruments Inc.), ammonia-based N (Horowitz, 1980), and PO_4 (Olsen and Sommers, 1982) content of the medium. Ten geranium plugs were collected, separated into shoots or roots and medium, dried, ground, and stored as described above. The geranium plug samples were analyzed for ammoniabased N, Mg, Zn, Ca, K, Mn, and PO₄ to determine the initial nutrient content of the geranium shoots and medium/roots.

The experimental design consisted of a completely randomized four by three factorial with four irrigation systems, three fertilizer treatments, benches as replications, and plants as subsamples. Data were analyzed by the general linear model procedure and trend analysis (SAS Institute, Cary, N.C.).

RESULTS

PLANT GROWTH

Height and diameter. Plants irrigated with HD irrigation were smallest, having significantly less height and diameter than plants grown with any other irrigation system (Table 3.1). The MT irrigation system produced plants with significantly greater height and diameter than plants grown with any other irrigation system. Fertilizer source did not influence height nor diameter.

Quality rating. Quality ratings were not significantly different for irrigation system or fertilizer source (Table 3.1).

Dry weights. Shoot dry weight was lowest when irrigated with CM and HD irrigation (Table 3.1). The EF irrigation system produced plants with significantly greater shoot dry weight than those grown with CM and HD. Root dry weight was lowest for

plants produced with HD and EF irrigation. CM produced significantly higher root weight than HD, but weights were not different from those produced by EF. Total dry weights were lowest when irrigated with HD and CM irrigation, and significantly higher for plants grown with EF irrigation. Shoot, root, and total dry weight was greatest for plants irrigated with the MT irrigation system. Shoot and root dry weights were not influenced by fertilizer source. Total dry weights increased as use of CRF increased, however, total dry weight of 100% CLF does not appear to differ from the other two treatments due to rounding.

<u>MEDIUM ANALYSIS</u>

Medium pH. The medium pH was lowest in plants irrigated with the MT system and slightly higher when irrigated with the CM system (Table 3.1). Medium pH was highest and not significantly different in plants irrigated with the EF and HD systems. Plants fertilized with 100% CRF had significantly lower medium pH than those fertilized with 200% CLF or the combination of 50% CLF/50%CRF.

Medium EC. The medium EC was significantly lower for plants grown with HD irrigation than with all other irrigation systems, which were not different from each other (Table 3.1). Fertilizer source had no significant effect on medium EC.

WATER EFFICIENCY

Amount of water applied. The MT irrigation system required the least amount of water, HD and EF required intermediate amounts, while the CM system required the greatest amount of irrigation water (Table 3.2). Within the HD irrigation system, the 100% CRF treatment required more water than the 100% CLF and 50% CLF/50% CRF

treatments. Within the MT irrigation system, the 100% CLF treatment required more water than the other two treatments. For the two subirrigation systems, the 50% CLF/50% CRF combination required the least amount of water. For plants irrigated with the CM system, the 100% CRF treatment required the greatest amount of water, while the 100% CLF treatment required the greatest amount of water when irrigated with the EF system.

Amount of run-off. The EF irrigation system produced the least amount of run-off, HD and MT irrigation produced a significantly greater but intermediate amount, and the CM irrigation system produced the greatest amount of run-off (Table 3.2).

<u>RUN-OFF ANALYSIS</u>

Run-off pH. Run-off from the CM irrigation system had the highest pH, followed by HD irrigation with the second highest pH (Table 3.2). Run-off from the MT and EF irrigation systems had significantly lower pH than that from the HD and CM systems. For the two top irrigation systems, the 100% CRF treatment produced run-off with significantly lower pH than 100% CLF or the combination of the two fertilizers. For the two subirrigation systems, the 50% CLF/50% CRF treatment produced run-off with an intermediate pH. For the CM system, run-off from the 100% CLF treatment had the highest pH and 100% CRF the lowest, while EF run-off was affected inversely with 100% CRF having the highest pH and 100% CLF the lowest.

Run-off EC. Run-off EC was the lowest for EF irrigation, while HD, CM, and MT irrigation produced run-off with significantly higher EC, respectively (Table 3.2). For all irrigation systems, the 100% CRF treatment produced run-off with the lowest EC, while

the 50% CLF/50% CRF, and 100% CLF treatments had significantly greater run-off EC, respectively.

Run-off nutrient concentration. Run-off NO₃, NH₄, and PO₄ concentrations significantly decreased with the increased use of CRF. Run-off NO₃ concentration was greatest with the combination of CM irrigation and 100% CLF. Both subirrigation systems produced significantly lower NO₃, NH₄, and PO₄ concentrations when using 100% CRF than the top irrigation systems. The greatest decrease in run-off NO₃ concentration was with CM irrigation and 100% CRF. For the 50% CLF/50% CRF treatment, EF irrigation produced the lowest NO₃ concentration. For the 100% CRF treatment, MT irrigation produced the greatest run-off NH₄ concentration, followed by HD, CM, and EF respectively.

TISSUE ANALYSIS

Shoot nutrient analysis. Shoot P concentrations for the two top irrigation systems, HD and MT, were not significantly different from each other (Table 3.3). The two subirrigation systems, CM and EF, produced plants with significantly higher shoot P concentrations than the top irrigation systems and were not different from each other. Plants grown with 100% CRF had a lower shoot P concentration than those grown with 100% CLF or the 50% CLF/50% CRF combination, which were not significantly different. Shoot K and Mg concentration was lowest for plants irrigated with the MT system, and highest for HD irrigation. The CM and EF systems produced intermediate shoot K and Mg concentrations. Shoot Mn concentrations were lowest in plants grown with MT irrigation, while HD, CM, and EF produced plants with significantly higher concentrations. The 100% CRF and 50% CLF/50% CRF treatments produced plants with lower shoot Mn concentrations than the 100% CLF treatment. Shoot Ca and Fe concentrations were not influenced by irrigation system. Shoot K, Ca, Mg, and Fe levels were not significantly influenced by fertilizer source.

Root nutrient analysis. Root P concentrations were lowest in plants grown with HD irrigation and highest in those grown with MT irrigation, CM and EF produced plants with intermediate root P levels (Table 3.4). Root P levels were not influenced by fertilizer source. Root K, Ca, Mg, Zn, Fe, and Mn, concentrations were not influenced by irrigation system nor fertilizer source.

Shoot and root N concentration. For all irrigation systems except HD, shoot and root N concentration was significantly lower in plants grown with 100% CRF than those grown with 100% CLF or 50% CLF/50%CRF. (Table 3.5) For plants grown with HD, shoot N concentration was similar in plants grown with 100% CLF or 100% CRF, but was significantly higher in plants grown the 50% CLF/50% CRF combination. For plants irrigated with the MT system, those fertilized with 100% CLF had significantly higher shoot and root N concentrations than those fertilized with 50% CLF/50% CRF or 100% CLF, respectively. Each subirrigation system produced plants with shoot and root N concentrations that were not significantly different when fertilized with either 100% CLF or the combination of 50% CLF/50% CRF; however, N concentrations from CM plants were higher than those from EF. For plants irrigated with the HD system, those fertilized with 100% CLF had significantly higher root N concentration than those fertilized with the HD system, those fertilized with 100% CLF had significantly higher root N concentration than those fertilized with 100% CRF or 50% CLF/50% CRF, and was also significantly higher than all other irrigation systems and fertilizer combinations (Table 3.5).

NITROGEN PARTITIONING

N applied and retained. The amount of N applied increased with increased use of CLF, and the percentage of N retained (not lost as run-off) was greater with increased use of CRF (Table 3.6). Nitrogen retention was greatest with use of 50% or 100% CRF and EF irrigation, and lowest for 100% CLF and CM irrigation. Actual N retained was similar for fertilizer type but was significantly higher for CM, than the other irrigation systems due to N retention by the mat. Total N retention was lowest for MT.

Run-off N. The amount of N lost as run-off was greatest for CM irrigation, followed by MT, HD, and EF respectively (Table 3.6). The amount of run-off N increased with greater amounts of CLF, and the percent of N lost as run-off increased significantly with increased use of CLF, however, the increase was greater for subirrigation systems than for top irrigation systems.

Plant N. The amount of N in the shoots and the percentage of retained N in the shoots was greatest for MT irrigation and tended to be greater in all irrigation systems when grown with the 50% CLF/50% CRF than other fertilizer treatments, with the exception of CM irrigation where the percentage of retained N in the shoot was greater when grown with 100% CLF (Table 3.6). The amount of N in the roots was not influenced by irrigation system; however, the percentage of retained N in the roots was greatest for MT irrigation and significantly lower for both subirrigation systems. Root N decreased with use of CRF. The percentage of retained N in the roots was decreased

the 100% CRF treatment, but was not significantly different for HD and EF irrigation.

Medium N. For the two subirrigation systems, the amount of N in the medium was significantly lower with 100% CLF than the two CRF treatments (Table 3.6). For top irrigated plants, medium N was similar for all fertilizer treatments. The percentage of retained N in the medium was greatest for MT irrigation and lowest for HD.

Container N. The percentage of retained N adsorbed to the container was similar for the MT and CM irrigation systems, while with HD and EF irrigation the percentage increased as use of CRF increased (Table 3.6). However, the amount of N remaining on the container was not significant compared to the amount partitioned to other variables.

DISCUSSION

CLF VS. CRF

Increasing the percentage of N as CRF not only increased total dry weight, but also decreased run-off EC, NO_3 -N and P_2O_5 -P, and increased the percentage of N retained (Tables 3.1, 3.2, and 3.6). Conover and Poole (1992) noted that production of plants with CLF relied on porous medium and excessive amounts of water to provide leaching and could produce unacceptable levels of nitrates in leachate. In the current study, as CLF was applied there was direct run-off (leaching) of the fertilizer solution through the medium. However, the CRF nutrients were released by the moisture in the medium into the root zone nutrient solution after the irrigation water had leached through the container, lowering the amount of nutrients actually flushed from the container. In support, Stewart et al (1981) found that N concentration in leachate was significantly lower for CRF than for CLF.

While total dry weight was influenced by fertilizer type, height, diameter, and quality were not affected (Table 3.1). Conover and Poole (1992) also found no significant difference in plant height, quality, or EC for plants grown with either CRF or CLF in an ebb-and-flow system, and noted that foliage plants grown with CRF used more water than those grown with CLF.

Although the fertilizer treatments were designed to provide balanced amounts of nutrients, differences existed in the actual grams of N applied to each treatment (Table 3.6). This variation was attributed to differences in the calculated and actual nutrient release of the CRF and differences in the calculated N rate and the actual N rate applied by the fertilizer injector. Therefore, nutrient retention and partitioning of nutrients to appropriate sinks were also expressed in percentages.

Nitrogen retention by the crop (plant, medium, and pots) was significantly increased with the use of CRF (Table 3.6). The percentage of N retained by treatments fertilized with 100% CRF ranged from 80.2-98.3%. While the 100% CLF treatments retained only 54.3-72.5% of the applied N. Similarly, Hershey and Paul (1982) found that N loss ranged from 12-23% for CRF, while N loss for CLF was 12-48%. Cox (1985) reported that CRF was known to have decreased N run-off and increase N retention by the crop.

Interestingly, the percentage of N in the shoots and roots tended to be lower for plants irrigated with either 50% CLF/50% CRF or 100% CRF. However, percent of N

61

retained by shoots and roots was greater with 50% CLF/50% CRF than any other fertilizer treatment, indicating the increase in dry weight balanced the decrease in N concentration. In addition, the amount of N adsorbed to the container was an insignificant amount compared to other sinks (Table 3.6), which is in agreement with Stewart et al. (1981).

IRRIGATION SYSTEM

Although all irrigation systems produced similar quality plants, there were significant differences in growth, water use, and run-off (Tables 3.1 and 3.2). The commonly used HD irrigation produced the smallest plants with the least height, diameter, and dry weight (Table 3.1). Dole et al. (1994) also found that hand irrigation produced smaller plants and attributed the result to touching the plants with the sprayer during irrigation.

The MT irrigation system produced plants with the greatest height, diameter, and dry weight, used the least amount of water and released little more run-off than HD irrigation (Tables 3.1 and 3.2). The amount of N in the shoots and the percentage of retained N in the shoots was also greatest for MT irrigation (Table 3.6). The low amount of run-off may have been due to water retention as Dole et al. (1994) found that medium water retention in MT irrigated plants was greater than those irrigated with HD or CM systems. A more constant moisture level in the root zone could account for the increased in N taken up by MT irrigated plants.

The CM irrigation system produced plants with the second greatest height and diameter; however, CM used the greatest amount of water and released the greatest amount of run-off with greater EC than all other irrigation systems (Tables 3.1 and 3.2).

Thus, the amount of nutrients lost as run-off was much greater than all other treatments as with Dole et al. (1994). In our study, the large amount of water required by the CM system was attributed to evaporation from the mats, accentuated by high light intensity and high temperatures. Biernbaum et al. (1991) found that 30-60% of total water lost from a containerized plant was caused by evaporation from the medium surface. The addition of the mat extended the area of evaporation causing an even greater percentage of water to be lost. In contrast, Alleman and Weiler (1994) found that water efficiency was significantly improved by use of capillary mat systems in New York state, where fall/winter light intensity and temperatures would be lower than in Oklahoma.

The EF irrigation system produced plants with greater total dry weight than HD and CM irrigation and lost only 4.7% of applied water as run-off (Tables 3.1 and 3.2). Overall, the NO₃-N, NH₄-N, and P_2O_5 -P concentrations in the run-off and run-off EC were lower than those released from the other irrigation systems, because the only run-off released from the EF system was from leachings of clear, unamended water. At regular irrigations, the fertilizer solution drained into a holding tank and was recirculated for future irrigations. The EF irrigation system was water efficient, and because of the lack of run-off with this subirrigation system, the potential for groundwater contamination was greatly reduced. In support, George (1989) found that subirrigation produced plants with similar quality of top irrigation, while using only half as much fertilizer. Similarly, many studies concluded that subirrigated plants could benefit from reduced fertilizer rates (Barrett, 1991; Molitor, 1990; Nelson 1991). In summary, the nutrient efficiency of greenhouse irrigation systems was increased if at least 50% of fertilizer was supplied by CRF. Fertilizing with 100% CLF caused higher concentrations of nutrients to be released to the environment with no significant increase in growth or quality. The efficiency of CRF was increased with the use of EF or MT irrigation systems, which produced large, high quality plants and released small volumes of run-off. By utilizing water efficient irrigation systems together with nutrient efficient fertilizer sources, the potential of contaminating ground and surface water sources would be greatly reduced.

LITERATURE CITED

- Alleman, D.M. and T.C. Weiler. 1994. Comparison of greenhouse benching/irrigation systems for water use, fertilizer use, and crop quality with poinsettias and geraniums. HortScience 29(5):452. Abstr.
- Barrett, J. 1991. Water and fertilizer movement in greenhouse subirrigation systems. Greenhouse Manager 10(2):89-90.
- Biernbaum, J.A., W. Argo, and M. Yelanich. 1991. Effect of a pot cover on irrigation and fertilizer requirements and media nutrient stratification. HortScience 26(6):764. Abstr.
- Conover C.A. and R.T. Poole. 1992. Effect of fertilizer and irrigation on leachate levels of NH₄, NO₃, and P in container production of *Nephrolepsis exalta* 'Fluffy Ruffle'. J. Environ. Hort. 10(4):238-241.
- Cox, D.A. 1985. Nitrogen recovery by seed geranium as influenced by nitrogen source. HortScience 20(5):923-925.
- Dole J.M., J.C. Cole, and S.L. von Broembsen. 1994. Growth of poinsettias, nutrient leaching, and water-use efficiency respond to irrigation methods. HortScience 29(8):858-864.
- George, R.K. 1989. Flood subirrigation systems for greenhouse production and the potential for disease spread. M.S. Thesis, Michigan State University, East Lansing.
- Harwood J. E. and A.L. Kuhn. 1970. A colorimetric method for ammonium in natural waters. Water Research Pergamon Press. pp. 805-811.
- Hershey D.R. and J.L. Paul. 1982. Leaching-losses of nitrogen from pot chrysanthemums with controlled-release of liquid fertilization. Scientia Hort. 17:145-152.
- Horowitz, W. 1980. Official methods of analysis of the Association of Analytical Chemists, 13th ed. Assn. of Official Anal. Chem., Washington D.C., p. 15. section 2.058.

- Isaac, R.A. and Johnson, W.C., Jr. 1975. Collaborative study of wet and dry techniques for the elemental analysis of plant tissue by atomic absorption spectrophotometry. Assoc. Offic. Anal. Chem., 58:436.
- Molitor, H.D. 1990. The European perspective with emphasis on subirrigation and recirculation of water and nutrients. Acta Hort. 272:165-173.
- Nelson, P.V. 1991. Greenhouse operation and management. 4th ed. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- Olsen, S.R. and L.E. Sommers. 1982. In: A.L. Page, R.H. Miller, and P.R. Keeney (eds.). Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbial Properties. Amer. Soc. Agron., Inc. and Soil Sci. Amer. Inc., Madison, WI.
- Page A.L., R.H. Miller, and P.R. Keeney. 1982. Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbial Properties. Amer. Soc. Agron., Inc. and Soil Sci. Amer. Inc., Madison, WI.
- Rathier T.M. and C.R. Frink. 1989. Nitrate in runoff water from container grown juniper and Alberta spruce under different irrigation and N Fertilization regimes. J. Environ. Hort. 7(1):32-35.
- Stewart J.S., L.J. Lund, and R.L. Branson. 1981. Nitrogen balances for containergrown privet. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 106(5):565-569.
- White, J.W. 1993. Geraniums IV. The grower's manual. 4th ed., Ball Publishing, Geneva, IL.
- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1990. Effect of fertilizer concentration and method of application on media nutrient concentration, nitrogen runoff and growth of *Euphorbia pulcherrima* 'V-14 Glory'. Acta Hort. 272:185-189.

						-	Med	lium
	•	Diameter	-		weights			EC
Treatment	(cm)	(cm)	rating ^Y	Shoots	Roots	Total	pН	(mS)
Irrigation system								
Hand	16.5	29.2	4.2	10.1	1.7	11.8	5.5	2.6
Microtube	19.8	32.3	4.1	13.5	2.3	15.8	5.2	4.0
Capillary Mat	18.2	31.0	4.4	9.7	2.0	11.7	5.3	4.6
Ebb-and-flow	17.9	30.7	4.6	10.9	1.9	12.9	5.4	4.1
LSD	0.8	1.3	0.6	0.7	0.2	0.9	0.2	0.6
Fertilizer source								
100% CLF	17.9	30.8	4.2	10.3	1.9	12.0	5.5	3.7
50% CLF/50% CRI	F 18.5	31.3	4.5	11.2	2.1	13.2	5.4	3.9
100% CRF	17.9	31.2	4.2	11.6	2.0	13.5	5.2	3.9
LSD	1.0	1.8	0.6	1.3	0.4	1.6	0.1	0.8
Irrigation system	***	***	NS	***	***	***	**	***
Fertilizer treatment	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	*	***	NS
Irrigation*treatment	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 3.1. Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source on medium pH, EC, and growth of *Pelargonium hortorum* 'Pinto Red'.^z Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants.

^z Planting date, 3 February, 1994 and each replication harvested after receiving 12 irrigations. Y 1-5 with 5 the best.

*, **, ***, ^{NS}Significance at P<0.05, 0.01, 0.001, or nonsignificant, respectively.

Table 3.2. Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source on the amount of water applied, pH, EC, and nutrient concentration of run-off water from *Pelargonium hortorum* 'Pinto Red'.² Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants.

Irrigation	Fertilizer	Annlied				Run-off		
system	source	vater (liters)	water (liters)	Hq	EC (ms)	NO ₃ (mg-liter ⁻¹)	NH ₄ (mg-liter ⁻¹)	PO ₄ (mg·liter ⁻¹)
Hand	100% CLF 50% CLF/50% CRF	151.3 151.4	35.2 36.6	6.86 6.90	3.9 3.0	91.9 63.4	235.9 150.3	127.9 73.4
·	100% CRF	161.3	38.2	6.62	2.6	54.4	81.0	21.0
Microtube	100% CLF	143.8	41.9	5.64	3.8	81.6	234.0	142.0
	50% CLF/50% CRF 100% CRF	147.8 145.8	37.6 34.7	5.58 5.21	3.6 3.4	67.0 57.0	184.2 155.8	95.8 33.9
Capillary Mat	100%CLF	305.3	76.9	6.72	4.8	126.3	290.9	174.6
	50% CLF/50% CRF	285.8	69.2	6.83	3.4	68.9	133.8	82.4
	100% CRF	320.2	86.0	7.22	1.9	12.6	36.0	3.0
Ebb-and-flow	100% CLF	169.2	8.4	5.70	2.3	92.7	211.8	124.6
	50% CLF/50% CRF 100% CRF	155.0 162.6	6.5 8.0	5.51 5.27	1.7 1.5	37.9 28.5	92.0 27.3	38.4 8.7
Interactive LSD		3.8	2.5	0.05	0.1	4.3	7.2	3.7

68

**	***	**
* * *	**	* *
**	***	***
***	*	**
***	NS	*
***	**	**
Irrigation system	Fertilizer source	Irrigation* fertilizer

² Planting date, 3 February 1994 and each replication harvested after receiving 12 irrigations.

Ľ

			%		μ	g.g ⁻¹
Treatment	P	K	Ca	Mg	Fe	Mn
Irrigation system						
Hand	0.43	3.3	1.0	0.5	291.4	314.2
Microtube	0.47	2.5	0.7	0.4	233.2	177.7
Capillary Mat	0.58	3.1	0.8	0.4	243.7	318.9
Ebb-and-flow	0.64	2.7	1.0	0.4	233.8	269.1
LSD	0.08	0.6	0.4	0.1	274.8	70.7
Fertilizer source						
100% CLF	0.58	3.4	0.9	0.4	212.9	303.8
50% CLF/50% CRF	0.60	2.8	0.8	0.4	186.5	231.5
100% CRF	0.42	2.6	1.0	0.4	352.3	274.6
LSD	0.06	0.8	0.3	0.1	246.8	65.4
Irrigation system	**	*	NS	*	NS	***
Fertilizer treatment Irrigation*treatment	NS	* NS	NS NS	NS NS	NS NS	ns

Table 3.3 Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source on shoot tissue nutrient content of *Pelargonium hortorum* 'Pinto Red'.^z Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants.

 z Planting date, 3 February 1994 and each replication harvested after receiving 12 irrigations.

*, **, ***, ^{NS}Significance at P<u><</u>0.05, 0.01, 0.001, or nonsignificant, respectively.

		Ç	То			μg.g	1
Treatment	Р	K	Ca	Mg	Zn	Fe	Mn
Irrigation system							
Hand	0.23	0.3	0.9	0.2	55.6	482.4	107.7
Microtube	0.40	0.3	1.1	0.2	72.3	568.2	98.9
Capillary Mat	0.31	0.6	1.3	0.3	75.3	484.9	124.0
Ebb-and-flow	0.35	0.4	1.3	0.3	87.7	541.4	111.4
LSD	0.04	0.2	0.4	0.1	45.7	306.9	23.0
Fertilizer source							
100% CLF	0.34	0.4	1.1	0.3	71.8	537.5	99.8
50% CLF/50% CRF	0.32	0.4	1.3	0.3	79.9	524.8	110.1
100% CRF	0.31	0.5	1.0	0.3	66.5	495.5	121.7
LSD	0.04	0.4	0.5	0.6	35.5	308.2	25.4
Irrigation system	***	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Fertilizer source Irrigation*source	NS NS	NS NS	NS NS	NS NS	NS NS	NS NS	NS NS

Table 3.4. Influence of irrigation system and fertilizer source on root tissue nutrient content of *Pelargonium hortorum* 'Pinto Red'.^z Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants.

^z Planting date, 3 February 1994 and each replication harvested after receiving 12 irrigations. , ", ", "", "Significance at P \leq 0.05, 0.01, 0.001, or nonsignificant, respectively.

Irrigation	Fertilizer	%	N	%Zn
system	source	Shoots	Roots	shoots
Hand	100% CLF	3.6	2.7	107.3
	50% CLF/50% CRF	4.4	2.5	90.5
	100% CRF	3.7	2.6	59.0
Microtube	100% CLF	3.8	2.6	43.3
	50% CLF/50% CRF	3.6	2.3	46.0
	100% CRF	2.8	1.9	48.0
Capillary mat	100% CLF	4.3	2.5	68.3
	50% CLF/50% CRF	4.1	2.5	58.0
	100% CRF	3.0	1.7	61.0
Ebb-and-flow	100% CLF	3.7	2.5	119.0
	50% CLF/50% CRF	3.8	2.4	34.0
	100% CRF	2.8	1.8	56.3
Interactive LSD		0.2	0.1	14.7
Irrigation system		**	**	NS
Fertilizer source		***	***	NS
Irrigation*fertilizer		*	*	*

Table 3.5 Interaction of irrigation system and fertilizer source on tissue N content, and shoot Zn content of Pelargonium hortorum 'Pinto Red'.^z Means are an average of data from three replications (benches) of 16 plants.

^z Planting date, 3 February 1994 and each replication harvested after receiving 12 irrigations. *, **, ***, NS Significance at P \leq 0.05, 0.01, 0.001, or nonsignificant, respectively.

'Pinto	
hortorum	
argonium h	
ogen in Pelargo	
en ii	
lied nitroge	
g	1
of a	
partitioning of	plants.
uo	of 16
ter source on pa	ches) c
iliz	ns (bend
and fert	catio
φ	cplic
meth	hree
tion	of ti
imiga	crage
of	n av
Influence of irrigation metho	Red ¹² . Means are an average of three replicat
3.6	Mc
Table 3.6 Infl	Red' ² .

Irrigation	Fertilizer	Applied	Retained ^r	med ^r	Run-off	-off	<u>Shoot</u>	(g)	Root	Medium	Contain cr	a
system	source	(g)	(g) % ^x	% ^x	(g) % ^x	%X	(g)		g) % ^w	(g) % ^w	(g) % ^w	%w
臣	100% CLF 42.63	42.63	30.91	72.5	11.72	27.5	5.57 18.0	0.73	2.4	17.75 57.4	0.06	0.2
	50% CLF/50% CRF 39.36	RF 39.36	31.45	79.9	7.91	20.1	7.49 23.8	0.73	2.3	17.99 57.2	0.09	0.3
	100% CRF 34.83	34.83	29.29	84.1	5.54	15.9	5.85 20.0	0.69	2.4	18.40 62.8	0.15	0.5
TM	100% CLF 39.33	39.33	28.15	71.6	11.18	28.4	7.34 26.1	0.85	3.1	19.23 68.3	0.06	0.2
	50% CLF/50% CRF 37.64	RF 37.64	28.83	76.6	8.81	23.4	8.10 28.1	0.92	3.2	21.16 73.4	0.06	0.2
	100% CRF 35.23	35.23	28.26	80.2	6.97	19.8	6.39 22.6	0.73	2.6	21.05 74.5	0.06	0.2
CM	100% CLF 73.40	73.40	39.88	54.3	33.52	45.7	6.56 16.5	0.77	1.9	21.99 55.1	0.08	0.2
	50% CLF/50% CRF 53.86	RF 53.86	39.48	73.3	14.38	26.7	5.98 15.2	0.85	2.1	24.99 63.3	0.06	0.2
	100% CRF 40.10	40.10	36.10	90.0	4.00	10.0	5.04 14.0	0.51	1.4	24.95 69.1	0.06	0.2
田	100% CLF 55.91	55.91	40.31	72.1	15.60	27.9	5.96 14.8	0.72	1.8	21.00 52.1	0.09	0.3
	50% CLF/50% CRF 37.60	RF 37.60	32.83	87.3	4.77	12.7	6.82 20.8	0.76	2.3	23.68 72.1	0.10	0.3
	100% CRF 35.14	35.14	34.56	98.3	0.58	1.7	5.36 15.5	0.56	1.6	24.05 69.6	0.11	0.3
Interactive LSD	SD	1.47	1.33	1.4	0.74	3.0	0.50 1.5	0.07	0.2	1.12 4.5	0.02	0.1
Irrigation		*	*	*	*	*	* *	SN	* * *	* * *	*	*

Fertilizer Irrigation*fertilizer	* *	SN NS	* * * *	* *	::	** SN	** SN	** NS	* SN	* SN	* SN	NS NS	SN *
² Planting date, 3 February 1994, and harvested when each replication received 12 irrigations ^Y Nitrogen retained by plant, medium, and pot. ^X Percentage of applied nitrogen. ^W Percentage of retained nitrogen.	and harves lium, and p	sted whe ot.	n each	replicat	tion rece	ived 1	2 irrig	ations.					

CHAPTER IV

EFFECTS OF IRRIGATION SYSTEM ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF pH, SOLUBLE SALTS, ROOTS, AND NITROGEN IN THE MEDIUM

Jaime K. Morvant and John M. Dole. <u>Department of Horticulture and Landscape</u> <u>Architecture, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078-6027</u>. Earl Allen. <u>Department of Agronomy, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078-0507</u>.

Additional index words. *Pelargonium hortorum* 'Pinto Red', microtube, ebb-and-flow, capillary mat, EC, pH.

Abbreviations. HD, hand-irrigation; MT, microtube; EF ebb-and-flow; CM, capillary mat; EC, electrical conductivity.

Abstract. Pelargonium hortorum 'Pinto Red' were grown with 220 mg·liter⁻¹ N (20N-4.4P-16.6K) using hand-irrigation (HD), microtube (MT), ebb-and-flow (EF), and capillary mat (CM) irrigation systems. At harvest, root balls were sliced into three equal regions: top, middle, and bottom. For all irrigation systems, root counts were lowest in the top region. EF root counts were greatest in the middle region. The two sub-irrigation systems had higher average root counts than the two top irrigation systems (HD and MT). In general, less difference in soluble salt concentration and medium nitrogen existed between regions for top irrigated than for subirrigated root balls. Soluble salt concentration was lowest in the bottom and middle regions of EF and the bottom region of MT and CM. For subirrigation, the highest soluble salt concentration and medium nitrogen was in the top region. For all systems, pH was lowest in the bottom region.

INTRODUCTION

Plant growth is significantly affected by water application method, regardless of fertilizer source or rate (Argo and Biernbaum, 1994; Conover and Poole, 1992; Dole et al., 1994; Molitor, 1990). Irrigation method directly affects many factors that influence growth. These factors include pH, soluble salts, root growth, and nutrients, as well as the distribution of each within the growing medium (Argo and Biernbaum, 1994; Ku and Hershey, 1991; Molitor, 1990).

Medium soluble salt concentration and pH distribution has been most commonly studied to compare overhead irrigation and subirrigation methods. Ku and Hershey (1991) found that when using overhead irrigation, a low leaching fraction increased soluble salt concentration in the middle and lower third of the medium due to displacement of old fertilizer solution in the soil by newly applied fertilizer solution. Therefore, soluble salt concentration was decreased in the upper portion of the medium, while for subirrigation, salt concentration increased in the upper layers. Molitor (1990) found that subirrigation decreased pH in the lower portion of the medium, while trickle irrigation resulted in a similar pH throughout the root zone. Molitor (1990) suggested that the low pH of the bottom region of medium from plants grown with subirrigation may have been due to an increased amount of nitrifying bacteria in the lower layer, which was promoted by high ammonium fertilizer. In contrast, trickle irrigation distributed ammonia more uniformly throughout the root zone (Molitor, 1990). The purpose of this study was to determine the effect of irrigation method on the distribution of roots, pH, soluble salts, and nitrogen in the medium.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Commercially grown *Pelargonium hortorum* 'Pinto Red' geranium seedling plugs were planted three per pot on 31 May 1994 using 1.5 liters of 3 peat moss :1 perlite :1 vermiculite medium (by volume) amended with 6.87 g dolomite in 15 cm (1270 ml) azalea pots. The medium had 80.0% porosity, 70.2% total water-holding capacity, 48.0% available water, and 22.2% unavailable water, based on oven dried medium. Plants were grown in a corrugated polycarbonate-covered greenhouse with an average air temperature of 25.3/24.1C day/night, and maximum PPF of 1296 µmol^{-m⁻²-sec⁻¹. Standard disease and insect control procedures were followed (White, 1993). Sixteen plants were spaced 38 by 38 cm on containerized benches and irrigated with 220 mg·liter⁻¹ N of a commercial 20N-4.4P-16.6K water soluble fertilizer intended for soilless medium (Peters 20-10-20 PLS, Sierra Chemical Co., Milpitas, Calif.).} To determine the target irrigation weight, eighteen additional plugs were planted in six pots as described above, watered, and allowed to dry to the point that wilting was first observed. At that time, the weight of the entire plant, pot, and medium was recorded. The plants were then watered to saturation and weighed again to determine container capacity. Target irrigation weights were calculated as follows: [(Container capacity - wilting point weight) (0.40)] + wilting point weight = the total plant weight at 40% container capacity. The target test plant weight was obtained by averaging the weights of the six geranium pots at 40% container capacity. One test plant from each replication was selected and weighed daily. Each of the four treatments were irrigated when the test plant of each replication was at or below the set target irrigation weight.

The plants were irrigated by one of four irrigation systems 1) hand-watering (HD) (16-mm internal diameter hose and breaker nozzle), 2) microtube (MT) [2.5-mm main line, 1.9-mm internal diameter leader tubes and lead weight emitters (Chapin Watermatics, Watertown, N.Y.)], 3) ebb-and-flow (EF) [1.5 by 1.8-m bench top, 190-liter tank, pump, and drain tube (Midwest Gromaster, St. Charles, Ill.)], or 4) capillary mat (CM) [1.5 by 1.8-m black plastic (6-mm) bottom layer, mat, and black perforated plastic covering (Vattex Capillary Watering System; OS Plastics, Norcross, Ga.)]

In the recirculating EF system, water was contained in a covered tank, pumped to the containerized bench top, held for the designated time to allow uptake by plants, and drained back into the tank after each irrigation. The EF irrigation system only released run-off from periodic leachings with unamended water; then the bench was unplugged, allowing the excess water to flow from the bench top rather than returned to the tank. Water samples for nutrient analysis were collected from the tank. The tanks were filled to capacity with fertilized water periodically and at the end of the growing season to determine the amount of water applied. The MT and HD irrigation treatments had a 0.3-0.5 leaching fraction. The CM irrigation treatment was irrigated by applying the designated amount of water to the mat, allowing the mat and plants to take up water for 15 min, then draining the excess water from the mat by draping one edge of the mat over the edge of the bench for 15 min. The run-off water was collected in a trough that hung from the edge of the bench and was slanted slightly downward toward a bucket. The run-off from HD, MT, and EF treatments and was collected from a drain under each bench, and measured. The amount of water applied at each irrigation was determined with a flow meter (Electronic Digital Meter, Great Plains Industries) installed in the water line.

Irrigation amounts were as follows: HD - two sec per pot, at a flow rate of 17.0 liters/min (Electronic Digital Meter; Great Plains Industries, Wichita, KS.), MT - 75 sec per bench, at a flow rate of 17.0 liters/min, EF - 14 min per bench, CM - one min per bench applied to the mat using a 16-mm internal diameter hose and breaker nozzle, with 17.0 liters/min flow rate. The HD, EF, and CM treatments were leached from top to bottom every fifth irrigation with unamended water for two sec per pot with a 17.0 liters/min flow rate. The CM mats were leached an additional 15 sec and drained to prevent high soluble salt concentrations. The MT treatments were leached for 75 sec with unamended water at a flow rate of 17.0 liters/min.

The following data were recorded daily: weight of test plant, amount of water applied, irrigation number, and amount of run-off. For all treatments, run-off water samples were collected every eighth irrigation out of each ten irrigation cycle. Samples were stored at 4.4C until analyzed for pH (Fisher Accummet pH Meter; Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh), EC (Solu-bridge; Beckman Instruments Inc., Cedar Grove, N.J.), NH_4 (Harwood and Kuhn, 1970), NO_3 (cadmium reduction method, Page et al., 1982), and PO_4 (hydroquinone method, Olsen and Sommers, 1982).

Plants were harvested when 100% of the plants from each replication reached anthesis (6-19 July 1994) and the following data were collected: date of anthesis, height, diameter (average of measurements taken at widest point and perpendicular to the first), and quality rating (1 to 5 scale, 1 = poorest and 5 = best salable quality). The geranium shoots were removed, dried at 65C for five days, and weighed. Shoot tissue was combined into one sample per replication, ground to pass through a 917-um screen (20 mesh), and stored in air tight containers until analyzed for total N by the macro Kjeldahl method (Horowitz, 1980). The root balls of 10 plants per replication were measured into three equal regions: top, middle, and bottom. Root counts were taken on one randomly selected 6.5 cm² area of the outer medium surface per region. After counting, the roots were washed, dried at 65C, and weighed. The remaining six root balls from each replication were sliced into top, middle, and bottom regions. An homogenous sample of medium was taken from each region. Medium samples were allowed to air dry and prepared for analysis using a 1:2 (v/v) medium to deionized water ratio, allowed to equilibrate for 30 min, and pH (Fisher Accumet pH meter, Fisher Scientific), and EC (Solu-bridge, Beckman Instruments Inc.) recorded. Medium samples were also analyzed for ammonia-based N by the macro-Kjeldahl method (Horowitz, 1980).

The experimental design was completely randomized with four irrigation systems, benches as replications, and plants as subsamples. Data were analyzed by the general linear model procedure and mean separation was by Tukey's HSD (SAS Institute, Cary, N.C.).

RESULTS

PLANT GROWTH AND TISSUE ANALYSIS

Plant height, diameter, quality rating, and shoot and root dry weights were not influenced by irrigation system (Table 4.1). The HD irrigation system produced plants with a significantly lower N concentration than the other irrigation systems, while plants irrigated with the CM system had the highest N concentration (Table 4.1). The EF and MT systems were not significantly different from each other. Shoot P concentrations did not significantly differ by irrigation system.

WATER EFFICIENCY

Amount of water applied. The greatest amount of water was applied with the CM system, and the second greatest with the HD irrigation system (Table 4.2). The MT and EF irrigation systems required similar amounts of water.

Amount of run-off. The EF system produced the least, and the CM system produced the greatest amount of run-off (Table 4.2). The MT and HD systems produced an intermediate amount of run-off and were not significantly different from each other.

<u>RUN-OFF ANALYSIS</u>

Run-off pH and EC. Run-off pH and EC from the irrigation systems were not significantly different from each other (Table 4.2).

Run-off nutrient concentration. Run-off from the two top irrigated systems had lower NH₄ concentrations than that of the subirrigation systems (Table 4.2). Run-off from the EF system had the highest PO₄ concentration. The MT, HD, and CM irrigation systems produced run-off with lower PO₄ concentrations than EF, but were not significantly different from each other. Run-off NO₃ did not vary with the irrigation systems.

MEDIUM AND ROOT ANALYSIS

Medium pH. Medium pH was lowest in the bottom regions of pots irrigated with the HD, and MT systems, and the bottom and middle regions of pots on the CM system (Table 4.3). No significant difference occurred amount the regions of medium receiving EF irrigation.

Medium EC. For plants irrigated with the HD system, medium EC was similar among all three regions (Table 4.3). The top and middle regions of medium irrigated with the MT system had the same medium EC, while the EC of the bottom region was significantly lower. For EF irrigation system, the EC of both the middle and bottom regions of medium was significantly lower than that of the top region. In the CM irrigation system, medium from the top region had the highest EC, the middle region intermediate, and the bottom region had the lowest. Among the irrigation-region combinations, the lowest EC was found in the middle and bottom regions of medium from the EF system and the bottom region of medium from the MT and CM system. Overall, the highest medium EC was found in the top region of medium irrigated with the CM system.

Root count. For all irrigation systems, the root count in the top region was lower than the root counts in the middle and bottom regions (Table 4.3). The HD irrigation system had similar root counts in the middle and bottom regions which were both higher than in the top region. Root counts from the MT and CM irrigation systems were lowest in the top region, intermediate in the middle region, and highest in the bottom region. In the EF irrigation system, the root count was highest in the middle region, intermediate in the bottom region, and lowest in the top region. Subirrigation systems produced plants with higher root counts than top irrigated systems. Among all irrigation-region combinations, lowest root counts were found in the top regions of the MT and CM irrigation systems. The middle region of medium irrigated with the EF system and bottom region of the CM system had the highest overall root counts.

Medium N content. Irrigation system alone did not significantly influence the total amount of N from all three regions; however, N content was influenced by region and an interaction existed among irrigation system and region (Table 4.3). For the HD irrigation system, medium N content was lower in the middle region than in the top and bottom regions. The MT and EF irrigation systems had higher medium N content in the top region than in the middle and bottom regions, although the difference was smaller in the MT system. The highest N content among all irrigation-region combinations was in the top region of medium from the CM system and significantly lower N content was found in the middle and bottom regions.

DISCUSSION

MEDIUM REGIONS

As with previous reports (Argo and Biernbaum 1994, 1995; Molitor, 1990), electrical conductivity and medium N tended to be highest in the top region; however, less significant differences between the medium regions existed for top irrigated plants than for subirrigated plants (Table 4.3). The difference between irrigation methods may have been due to the mass flow of water in a downward direction, causing salts to be flushed through the medium with some leaching out of the container. Between irrigations, evaporation from the medium surface allowed salts to build up in the upper medium layers only to be flushed down again by the following irrigation. The up and down movement of fertilizer salts may cause salt concentrations to be less stratified. This concept is further supported by the medium EC patterns from the HD and MT systems (Table 4.3). Hand irrigation caused salts, medium nitrogen, and root count to be more evenly distributed than MT irrigation. Due to the nature of HD irrigation, the flow of water downward was more forceful than that of MT irrigation where water percolated slowly through the medium. In contrast, Ku and Hershey (1991) found that EC was greater in the lower medium layer due to piston displacement of soluble salts in the medium by the newly applied fertilizer solution.

When subirrigated, the highest soluble salt concentration and medium nitrogen was in the top region (Table 4.3) in agreement with Molitor (1990), Argo and Biernbaum (1994, 1995), and Guttormsen (1969). For subirrigation the main movement of water and fertilizer salts was in an upward direction. Water was absorbed through the bottom of the container and drawn to the medium surface, where evaporation was most rapid, by the wicking action of the medium (Laurie and Ries, 1950). Although subirrigation treatments were leached from top to bottom with clear water periodically, the frequency and amount of water was not enough to cause soluble salts to stay in the bottom layers. Argo and Biernbaum (1995) described the medium surface in subirrigation as a point of salt removal similar to leaching through the bottom of the root zone preventing damage from high fertilizer rates. Likewise, in the current experiment, no differences in plant growth or quality existed among the irrigation methods, although the same fertilizer rates were used.

Medium pH was lowest in the bottom region of top irrigated medium, while the middle and top regions had significantly greater pH (Table 4.3). With subirrigation pH also tended to be lowest in the bottom region; however, the difference was not significant with EF irrigation. Molitor (1990) found that subirrigation decreased pH in the lower layer of the medium; however, the difference in pH was much greater with subirrigation than trickle irrigation. Molitor (1990) suggested that the low pH of the bottom medium region may have been due to an increased amount of nitrifying bacteria in the lower layer, which was promoted by high ammonium fertilizer. Trickle irrigation distributed ammonia more uniformly throughout the root zone; and pH was less stratified (Molitor, 1990).

In addition, Heiskanen (1995) found that the lower layer of peat medium has a higher moisture level than the middle and upper layers. The increased moisture in the lower region may have caused an increase in mineralization, and release of organic acids, therefore reducing pH as well as encouraging nitrifying bacteria. In contrast, Ku and Hershey (1991) concluded that pH was greater in the lower layer due to adsorption of ammonium to the medium.

The two subirrigation systems produced plants with higher average root counts than those grown with the two top irrigation systems (Table 4.3). However, root weights may not always correlate with root counts, as Dole et al. (1994) reported that overall root dry weights were not significantly different for EF and top irrigation, and root weights from the CM system were significantly lower than other irrigation treatments. Root counts in the bottom region of MT were significantly greater than the middle and upper regions. Root growth was visibly concentrated at the bottom of the container. Medium EC was also significantly lower in the bottom region, while the two upper regions were not different from each other. High soluble salt concentrations may have suppressed root growth. Root counts were significantly greater in the middle region of EF medium, while soluble salt concentration was lower in both the bottom and middle regions of medium than that of any other region and irrigation system. The decreased EC in the middle region may have allowed more root growth in the middle of the container, as compared to a higher EC in the middle region, and increased root growth in the area of more favorable growing conditions. Although there was no effect on plant growth in this experiment, Argo and Biernbaum (1995) found that plant growth decreased when rootzone nutrient concentrations were above the optimal SME (saturated medium extract) range. Yelanich and Biernbaum (1990) also noted decreased plant growth with increased medium EC.

Run-off from the two top irrigation systems had lower NH_4 -N concentrations than that of the subirrigation systems. For all irrigation systems, run-off NO_3 -N concentrations were not significantly different.

IRRIGATION SYSTEM

For all irrigation systems, no differences existed in plant grade, height, diameter, shoot and root dry weights, and shoot P content. The similar growth was attributed to a short crop duration due to high temperature and light conditions (25.3/24.1C, PPF 1296 µmol^{-m⁻²-sec⁻¹}) which allowed the plants to reach anthesis quickly (36-49 days). However, plants grown on HD irrigation had lower tissue N concentration than all other treatments, while plants irrigated by CM had greatest N concentrations. In contrast, Knight et al. (1993) found that geraniums grown with top irrigation had greater shoot N than those grown in an EF trough system.

The HD irrigation system required the second greatest amount of water and released an intermediate amount of run-off, making the system less water efficient than the MT and EF systems. The MT system required the least amount of water and produced an intermediate amount of run-off, but less than HD irrigation. The CM irrigation system required the greatest amount of water and produced the greatest amount of run-off; in addition, nutrient concentrations in the run-off were greater than that of MT and HD irrigation. Thus, the amount of nutrients lost as run-off was much greater than all other treatments which is in agreement with Dole et al. (1994). In the current study, the large amount of water required by the CM system was attributed to evaporation from the mats, accentuated by high light intensity and high temperatures (Dole et al., 1994). Biernbaum et al. (1991) found that 30-60% of total water lost from a containerized plant was caused by evaporation from the medium surface. The addition of the mat extended the area of evaporation causing an even greater percentage of water to be lost. In contrast, while Alleman and Weiler (1994) noted that water efficiency was significantly improved by use of capillary mat systems. This work was conducted in New York, where fall/winter light intensity and temperatures would be somewhat lower than in Oklahoma. A large amount of nutrients may have been held within the absorbent mat causing another outlet for nutrient loss; however, further research is needed to determine if the amount is significant. Overall, medium N concentration was greatest for CM irrigation, and may have been the result of a greater amount of water and fertilizer applied.

The EF system lost only 6.5% of applied water as run-off. The amount of run-off recorded was actually from leaching with clear, unamended water every fifth irrigation when the irrigation water was allowed to flow from the bench, rather than water that leached from the container at each irrigation. The run-off P_2O_5 -P was greater than all other irrigation systems. Run-off concentrations reported were the result of a mixture of samples taken from the sump tanks holding the fertilizer solution and run-off from periodic leaching. These concentrations are misleading. If samples had been taken from only the effluent that was lost to the environment, the leachings, the concentrations would

have been much lower. Run-off NH_4 -N concentrations are also greater, though not significantly different than that of CM run-off.

In summary, the medium pH decreased in the bottom region of the rootball when irrigated with any irrigation system. Soluble salts and medium N were concentrated in the top region of rootballs grown with subirrigation systems, while top irrigation, especially the HD irrigation system caused a relatively even distribution of salts, medium N, and root growth. Irrigation system effected both the vigor and distribution of root growth, which may be correlated with soluble salt concentrations in the medium regions. To correlate the direct effect of these factors on plant growth, this experiment would need to be repeated using a crop with a longer growing season to allow growth differences to become evident. Over a longer season, root growth would increase and fill the rootball more completely, including the middle and top regions where pH and EC would have a more significant effect on plant growth.

LITERATURE CITED

- Alleman, D.M. and T.C. Weiler. 1994. Comparison of greenhouse benching/irrigation systems for water use, fertilizer use, and crop quality with poinsettias and geraniums. HortScience 29(5):452. Abstr.
- Argo, W.R. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1994. Irrigation requirements, root-medium pH, and nutrient concentrations of Easter lilies grown in five peat-based media with and without an evaporation barrier. J. Amer. Hort. Sci. 119(6):1151-1156.
- Argo, W.R. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1995. The effect of irrigation method, water-soluble fertilization, preplant nutrient charge, and surface evaporation on early vegetative and root growth of Poinsettia. J. Amer. Hort. Sci. 120(2):163-169.
- Biernbaum, J.A., W. Argo, and M. Yelanich. 1991. Effect of a pot cover on irrigation and fertilizer requirements and media nutrient stratification. HortScience 26(6):764. Abstr.
- Conover C.A. and R.T. Poole. 1992. Effect of fertilizer and irrigation on leachate levels of NH₄, NO₃, and P in container production of *Nephrolepsis exalta* 'Fluffy Ruffle'. J. Environ. Hort. 10(4):238-241.
- Dole J.M., J.C. Cole, and S.L. von Broembsen. 1994. Growth of poinsettias, nutrient leaching, and water-use efficiency respond to irrigation methods. HortScience 29(8):858-864.
- Guttormsen, G. 1969. Accumulation of salts in the sub-irrigation of pot plants. Plant Soil 21(3):425-438.
- Harwood J. E. and A.L. Kuhn. 1970. A colorimetric method for ammonium in natural waters. Water Research Pergamon Press. pp. 805-811.
- Heiskanen, J. 1995. Water status of sphagnum peat and a peat-perlite mixture in containers subjected to irrigation regimes. HortScience Vol.30(2):281-284.
- Horowitz, W. 1980. Official methods of analysis of the Association of Analytical Chemists, 13th ed. Assn. of Official Anal. Chem., Washington D.C., p. 15. section 2.058.

- Knight, P.R., D.J. Eakes, and C.H. Gilliam. 1993. Method of irrigation and fertilizer application influence growth and nitrogen recovery for 'Scarlet Elite' geranium. HortScience 28(5):477. Abstr.
- Ku, C.S.M. and D.R. Hershey. 1991. Leachate electrical conductivity and growth of potted poinsettia with leaching fractions of 0 to 0.4. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 116:802-806.
- Laurie, A. and V.H. Ries. 1950. Floriculture. Fundamentals and practices. 2nd ed. McGraw-Hill, New York. p.#32-35.
- Molitor, H.D. 1990. The European perspective with emphasis on subirrigation and recirculation of water and nutrients. Acta Hort. 272:165-173.
- Olsen, S.R. and L.E. Sommers. 1982. Phosphorus, p. 404-430. In: A.L. Page, R.H. Miller, and P.R. Keeney (eds.). Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbial Properties. Amer. Soc. Agron., Inc. and Soil Sci. Amer. Inc., Madison, WI.
- Page A.L., R.H. Miller, and P.R. Keeney. 1982. Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbial Properties. Amer. Soc. Agron., Inc. and Soil Sci. Amer. Inc., Madison, WI.
- White, J.W. 1993. Geraniums IV. The grower's manual. 4th ed., Ball Publishing, Geneva, IL.
- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1990. Effect of fertilizer concentration and method of application on media nutrient concentration, nitrogen runoff and growth of *Euphorbia pulcherrima* 'V-14 Glory'. Acta Hort. 272:185-189.

Table 4.1. Influence of irrigation system on plant growth and shoot nutrient content of
Pelargonium hortorum 'Pinto Red' grown with 220 mg·liter ⁻¹ N. ^Z Means are and average
of four replications (benches) of 16 plants, except for root dry weights which were based
on 10 plants per replication.

Irrigation system	Quality rating ^Y	Height (cm)	Diameter (cm)	Shoot dry weight (g)	Root dry weight (g)	Shoot N (%)	Shoot P (%)
Hand	3.8	14.1	23.9	9.06	1.43	2.55	0.33
Microtube	3.9	14.2	23.5	7.55	1.53	2.92	0.29
Capillary mat	3.9	13.9	24.5	7.93	1.40	3.00	0.39
Ebb-and-flow	4.0	14.1	23.7	8.05	1.77	2.80	0.42
HSD	0.6	1.4	2.7	2.64	1.23	0.17	
Irrigation	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	***	NS

² Planting date, 27 May 1994 and harvested when 100% of the plants reached anthesis. ^Y 1-5 rating with 5 the best. ^{*}, ^{**}, ^{***}, ^{NS} Significant at P \leq 0.05, 0.01, 0.001, or nonsignificant, respectively.

					Runoff		
Irrigation System	Applied (liter)	Runoff (liter)	Hq	EC	NO ₃ -N (mg·liter ⁻¹)	NH4-N (mg-liter ⁻¹)	P2O5-P (mg-liter ¹)
Hand	148.3	52.0	6.9	2.3	182.8	81.7	7.2
Microtube	108.0	47.8	6.1	2.2	211.5	79.1	4.4
Capillary mat	278.3	88.3	6.5	2.4	264.4	120.0	11.9
Ebb-and-flow	116.2	7.5	6.0	1.8	146.0	163.3	41.9
USH	13.2	8.5	1.2	0.9	120.7	52.5	9.2
Irrigation	***	***	SN	SN	NS	:	Ŧ

 Table 4.2.
 Influence of irrigation system on water use and run-off nutrient content of *Pelargonium hortorum* 'Pinto Red' grown with

 220 mg-liter¹ N.²
 Means are an average of data from four replications (benches) of 16 plants.

² Planting date, 27 May 1994 and harvested when 100% of the plants reached anthesis.

Irrigation system	Region	pН	EC (mS)	Root count	N (%)
		r			
Hand	Тор	5.42	1.33	5.6	0.89
	Middle	5.45	0.98	13.6	0.79
	Bottom	4.73	1.09	14.7	0.87
Microtube	Тор	5.42	1.86	3.5	0.91
	Middle	5.46	1.86	12.4	0.70
	Bottom	4.76	0.58	17.3	0.73
Capillary Mat	Тор	5.17	3.12	5.3	1.25
	Middle	4.73	1.02	16.6	0.77
	Bottom	4.46	0.66	20.8	0.73
Ebb-and-flow	Тор	5.25	2.15	9.1	1.02
	Middle	5.40	0.54	20.9	0.68
	Bottom	5.19	0.38	15.5	0.64
Interactive LSD		0.33	0.44	4.06	0.06
Irrigation		***	*	*	NS
Region		**	***	***	***
Irrigation*Region		**	***	***	***

Table 4.3. Influence of irrigation system on pH, EC, root count, and nitrogen content of medium regions of Pelargonium hortorum 'Pinto Red' grown with 220 mg liter 1 N.² Means are an average of data from four replications (benches) of 6 plants for pH, EC, and N determination, and 10 plants for root counts.

² Planting date, 27 May 1994 and harvested when 100% of the plants reached anthesis. , **, ***, NS, Significant at $P \le 0.05$, 0.01, 0.001, or nonsignificant, respectively.

CHAPTER V

SUMMARY

Pulse irrigation increased water use efficiency, reduced the amount of nutrients lost as run-off, and produced large, vigorous plants. The MT and EF irrigation systems were both water and fertilizer efficient. The CM irrigation system was the least water efficient, used the greatest amount of water, produced the greatest amount of run-off, and released the greatest amount of NO₃-N, NH₄-N, and PO₄-P to the environment. The commonly used HD irrigation produced the smallest plants, with reduced height, diameter, and dry weight. By reducing applied fertilizer rates, and using the EF or MT irrigation system with pulse irrigation frequency, growers could greatly decrease potential contamination to ground and surface water sources, while producing high quality, profitable plants. Also, operating costs would be lowered by increasing water and fertilizer efficiency.

The nutrient efficiency of greenhouse irrigation systems could be increased if at least 50% of fertilizer is supplied by CRF. Fertilizing with 100% CLF caused higher concentrations of nutrients to be released to the environment with no increase in growth or quality. The efficiency of CRF was increased with the use of EF or MT irrigation systems, which produced large, high quality plants and released small volumes of run-off. By utilizing water efficient irrigation systems together with nutrient efficient fertilizer sources, the potential of contaminating ground and surface water sources would be greatly reduced. In addition to determining the most water and nutrient efficient irrigation and fertilizer practices, we found that the medium pH was lowest in the bottom region of the rootball when irrigated with any irrigation system. Soluble salts and media N were concentrated in the top region of rootballs grown with subirrigation systems, while top irrigation, especially the HD irrigation system, caused a relatively even distribution of soluble salts, media N, and root growth. Irrigation system effected both the vigor and distribution of root growth, which may be correlated with soluble salt concentrations in the media regions.

LITERATURE CITED

- Alleman, D.M. and T.C. Weiler. 1994. Comparison of greenhouse benching/irrigation systems for water use, fertilizer use, and crop quality with poinsettias and geraniums. HortScience 29(5):452. Abstr.
- Argo, W.R. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1994. Irrigation requirements, root-medium pH, and nutrient concentrations of Easter lilies grown in five peat-based media with and without an evaporation barrier. J. Amer. Hort. Sci. 119(6):1151-1156.
- Argo, W.R. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1995. The effect of irrigation method, water-soluble fertilization, preplant nutrient charge, and surface evaporation on early vegetative and root growth of Poinsettia. J. Amer. Hort. Sci. 120(2):163-169.
- Barrett, J. 1991. Water and fertilizer movement in greenhouse subirrigation systems. Greenhouse Manager 10(2):89-90.
- Biernbaum, J.A., W. Argo, and M. Yelanich. 1991. Effect of a pot cover on irrigation and fertilizer requirements and media nutrient stratification. HortScience 26(6):764. Abstr.
- Conover C.A. and R.T. Poole. 1992. Effect of fertilizer and irrigation on leachate levels of NH₄, NO₃, and P in container production of *Nephrolepsis exalta* 'Fluffy Ruffle'. J. Environ. Hort. 10(4):238-241.
- Cox, D.A. 1985. Nitrogen recovery by seed geranium as influenced by nitrogen source. HortScience 20(5):923-925.
- Dole J.M., J.C. Cole, and S.L. von Broembsen. 1994. Growth of poinsettias, nutrient leaching, and water-use efficiency respond to irrigation methods. HortScience 29(8):858-864.
- Ecke, P., Jr., O.A. Matkin, and D.E. Hartley. 1990. The poinsettia manual. Paul Ecke Poinsettias, Encinitas, Calif.
- Fare, D.C., C.H. Gilliam, and G.J. Keever. 1994. Cyclic irrigation reduces container leachate nitrate-nitrogen concentration. HortScience 29(12):1514-1517.

- George, R.K. 1989. Flood subirrigation systems for greenhouse production and the potential for disease spread. M.S. Thesis, Michigan State University, East Lansing.
- Gilman, E.F., G.W. Knox, C.A. Neil, and U. Yadav. 1994. Microirrigation affects growth and root distribution of trees in fabric containers. HortTechnology Jan./Mar. 1(4):43-45.
- de Graaf-van der Zande, M.T. 1990. Watering strategies in bedding plant culture: effect on plant growth and keeping quality. Acta Hort. 272:191-196.
- Guttormsen, G. 1969. Accumulation of salts in the sub-irrigation of pot plants. Plant Soil 21(3):425-438.
- Hammer, P.A., C.A. Mitchell, and T.C. Weiler. 1974. Height control in greenhouse production and the potential for disease spread. MS Thesis, Michigan State Univ., East Lansing.
- Harwood J. E. and A.L. Kuhn. 1970. A colorimetric method for ammonium in natural waters. Water Research Pergamon Press. pp. 805-811.
- Heiskanen, J. 1995. Water status of sphagnum peat and a peat-perlite mixture in containers subjected to irrigation regimes. HortScience Vol.30(2):281-284.
- Hershey D.R. and J.L. Paul. 1982. Leaching-losses of nitrogen from pot chrysanthemums with controlled-release of liquid fertilization. Scientia Hort. 17:145-152.
- Horowitz, W. 1980. Official methods of analysis of the Association of Analytical Chemists, 13th ed. Assn. of Official Anal. Chem., Washington D.C., p. 15. section 2.058.
- Isaac, R.A. and Johnson, W.C., Jr. 1975. Collaborative study of wet and dry techniques for the elemental analysis of plant tissue by atomic absorption spectrophotometry. Assoc. Offic. Anal. Chem., 58:436.
- Knight, P.R., D.J. Eakes, and C.H. Gilliam. 1993. Method of irrigation and fertilizer application influence growth and nitrogen recovery for 'Scarlet Elite' geranium. HortScience 28(5):477. Abstr.
- Ku, C.S.M. and D.R. Hershey. 1991. Leachate electrical conductivity and growth of potted poinsettia with leaching fractions of 0 to 0.4. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 116:802-806.

- Laurie, A. and V.H. Ries. 1950. Floriculture. Fundamentals and practices. 2nd ed. McGraw-Hill, New York. p.#32-35.
- McAvoy, R.J. 1994. Nitrate nitrogen movement through the soil profile beneath a containerized greenhouse crop irrigated with two leaching fractions and two wetting agent levels. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 119(3):446-451.
- Molitor, H.D. 1990. The European perspective with emphasis on subirrigation and recirculation of water and nutrients. Acta Hort. 272:165-173.
- Nelson, P.V. 1991. Greenhouse operation and management. 4th ed. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- Olsen, S.R. and L.E. Sommers. 1982. Phosphorus, p. 404-430. In: A.L. Page, R.H. Miller, and P.R. Keeney (eds.). Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbial Properties. Amer. Soc. Agron., Inc. and Soil Sci. Amer. Inc., Madison, WI.
- Page A.L., R.H. Miller, and P.R. Keeney. 1982. Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbial Properties. Amer. Soc. Agron., Inc. and Soil Sci. Amer. Inc., Madison, WI.
- Poole R.T. and C.A. Conover. 1992. Fertilizer levels and medium affect foliage plant growth in an ebb and flow irrigation system. J. Environ. Hort. 10(4):81-86.
- Rathier T.M. and C.R. Frink. 1989. Nitrate in runoff water from container grown juniper and Alberta spruce under different irrigation and N Fertilization regimes. J. Environ. Hort. 7(1):32-35.
- Stewart J.S., L.J. Lund, and R.L. Branson. 1981. Nitrogen balances for containergrown privet. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 106(5):565-569.
- Turgeon, R. and J.A. Webb. 1971. Growth inhibition by mechanical stress. Science 174:961-962.
- White, J.W. 1993. Geraniums IV. The grower's manual. 4th ed., Ball Publishing, Geneva, IL.
- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1990. Effect of fertilizer concentration and method of application on media nutrient concentration, nitrogen runoff and growth of *Euphorbia pulcherrima* 'V-14 Glory'. Acta Hort. 272:185-189.

- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1993. Root-medium nutrient concentration and growth of poinsettia at three fertilizer concentrations and four leaching fraction. J Amer. Hort. Sci. 118(6):771-776.
- Yelanich M.V. and J.A. Biernbaum. 1994. Fertilizer concentration and leaching affect nitrate-nitrogen leaching from potted poinsettia. HortScience 29(8):874-875.

VITA Jaime Kaye Morvant Candidate for the Degree of Master of Science

Thesis: THE EFFECTS OF IRRIGATION METHOD ON PLANT GROWTH, WATER AND NUTRIENT EFFICIENCY, AND RUN-OFF.

Major Field: Horticulture

Biographical:

Personal: Born in Stephenville, Texas, on May 17, 1971.

- Education: Graduated from Stephenville High School, Stephenville, Texas in May, 1989; received Bachelor of Science degree in Horticulture from Tarleton State University, Stephenville, Texas in December, 1992. Completed the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Horticulture at Oklahoma State University in December, 1995.
- Professional Experience: Graduate Research Assistant, Department of Horticulture and Landscape Architecture, Oklahoma State University, August 1993, to August, 1995; Teaching Assistant, Department of Horticulture and Landscape Architecture, Oklahoma State University, August 1994, to December, 1994; Student Assistant, Tarleton State University, Stephenville, TX, 1991 to 1992; Sales Assistant, Miller Nursery and Tree Company, Stephenville, TX, June 1990, to September, 1992.